# *OurStory*: Leveraging College Admission Essays to Reframe Beliefs and Shape Positive Personal Narratives in African American Adolescents

Abimbola Olubunmi Tschetter

Master of Applied Positive Psychology Program, University of Pennsylvania

MAPP 800: Capstone Project

Advisor: Margarita Tarragona, PhD

July 26, 2022

#### Abstract

The stories we tell can shape our lives and our experiences. Unfortunately, many African American adolescents are often subjected to stereotypes and one-sided deficit narratives that can become self-fulfilling prophecies undermining their achievement, aspirations, and well-being. However, the college admission process offers an intervention opportunity to help these students tell a different story—their story. In this paper, the author presents an analysis of the threats and opportunities inherent in the college-admission process and a literature review on topics aligned to three pillars—beliefs, belonging, and becoming. The paper concludes with the application plan for an intervention that leverages the college admission essay and essay-writing process to reframe beliefs and shape positive personal narratives. Inspired by research from narrative psychology, social psychology, and positive psychology, *OurStory* challenges dominant deficit narratives and aims to improve academic outcomes, college matriculation rates, and adolescent flourishing and well-being.

*Keywords:* adolescent well-being, African American youth, college admission essay, critical counternarrative, growth mindset intervention, personal narrative, positive psychology intervention, positive youth development, social belonging, storytelling, wise interventions

2

#### Acknowledgements

When I was 10, my fifth-grade teacher told me I was a B student, and I shouldn't expect more of myself. She told my parents the same thing. In short, they told her to go pound sand.

For the last life-changing year, I have been a student in the 17<sup>th</sup> class of the Master of Applied Positive Psychology (MAPP) program at the University of Pennsylvania. Soon, I will be counted among Penn's distinguished alumni. On day one, I, along with my classmates, was assured that I was needed and that I belonged. I was encouraged to look for the good, to lean on others, and to believe that I can. And I have. I've seen myself do things I never knew I was capable of. I've weathered the worst of storms. I've forged meaningful friendships that I suspect will last a lifetime. And each day, I'm becoming a better version of myself.

This capstone is the culmination of an incredible year in my story. It is my belief in and expectation for so much more. This capstone is the fruit of seeds so many have planted, nurtured, and harvested along the way. It has been a joy to write, and I'm eager to share it with you.

But first, I would like to say thank you—

To my parents, Dr. Abiose Lasaki and Dr. Gbolahan Lasaki, you taught me about agency, self-efficacy, and a growth mindset long before I learned these terms in graduate school. It has made all the difference in getting me here. Thank you for your love, support, encouragement, and belief in me since the beginning.

To the exceptional high school teachers and college professors who taught me the power of story and helped me to see that yes, indeed I can—Virginia White, James Brandt, Darcy Peterson, Dr. Laurie Goodman, and Dr. Jane Ganske.

To the two students, Dr. Michael McGehee and Taryn Tucker, whose college aspirations and essays entrusted to me over 20 years apart inspired my work and this project.

3

To my advisor, Dr. Margarita Tarragona, many thanks for your time, warmth, support, and thoughtful guidance and feedback as I nurtured an idea from concept to capstone.

To my tribe of additional advisors, Devon Tomasulo, Dr. Judy Saltzberg Levick, and my journal reader—turned pen pal—turned friend—Joe Glaser-Reich, you didn't have to but you did anyway. I'm grateful.

To my classmates, MAPP 7Team, you have given me a window into the very best of humanity. You continue to inspire me to be better.

To the Virtuous Ladies, Nizzi Renaud, Louise Wo, and Paula Toledo, you had me at "hello."

To my sisters from Team Yellow, Colleen Finnerty, Dacia Carter, and Jen Rossano, you have forever and unequivocally changed my mind about Zoom meetings and teamwork.

To the MAPP Team, Nicole Stottlemyer, Laura Taylor, Aaron Boczkowski, Leona Brandwene, and Dr. James Pawelski, MAPP has been one of the best chapters in my story. Thank you for masterfully holding this space, for crafting and curating an experience so rich, and for saying yes.

To Dr. Marty Seligman, I'm grateful to you for your pioneering work and your vision for an applied positive psychology program at Penn. It has not only transformed the field of psychology; it has also transformed my life.

To Dr. Jacqueline Mattis, you first introduced me to scholarly work on counternarratives, and your considerate work in this field has inspired me to follow suit.

To Dr. Joyce Bachman and Dr. Sade Kosoko-Lasaki, thank you for your decades of relentless support of my craft and my potential.

To Tolu Lasaki, Folayo Lasaki, and Jennifer Lovely, you encouraged me to chase down my dream even after the answer I waited a year to hear was not yet. I wouldn't be here without you.

To Tohnia Alexander, you have shared so generously and walked with me through nearly every step of this journey. Here's to our next steps.

To Paul Tschetter, you have been my partner, beloved, and friend. You helped me get here and have helped me discover the depths of my own character, community, resilience, and strength. I will always be thankful for you, and I hope you continue to uncover yours too.

To my children, Maya Tschetter and Cole Tschetter, I see you. I respect you. I believe in you. And I dedicate this capstone—every word of it—to you. I can't wait to bear witness as your stories continue to unfold.

Finally, to God. There aren't enough words.

# **Table of Contents**

Introduction
Our Stories9
OurStory: A Positive Intervention Opportunity11
Positive Psychology   The Science of Well-Being 12
Strengths and Interventions: The Legacies of Positive Psychology
Broadening Perspectives on Well-Being
Part I—Situation Analysis   Obstacles and Opportunities on Pathways to College 18
The College Admission and Application Process
Threats to Higher Education
The Admission Essay Opportunity
Part II—Literature Review   Building a Program Grounded in Research
Critical Counternarratives
Cultural Considerations When Implementing PPIs for African American Youth
Adolescent Flourishing and Well-Being
Positive Youth Development
The Well-Being and Achievement Benefits of Expressive Writing
Beliefs
Agency
Self-Efficacy

Mindset.	
Belonging	
Positive Relationships	
Mattering	
The Need to Belong.	
Becoming	
Prospection and Narrative Identity.	
Wise and Effective Interventions	
Part III—Application Plan   OurStory: A Wise Positi	ve Intervention 50
Curriculum Modules	
Beliefs	
Belonging	
Becoming	
Program-Development Considerations	
Future Directions	
Limitations	
Our Story Continues	
References	

# *OurStory*: Leveraging College Admission Essays to Reframe Beliefs and Shape Positive Personal Narratives in African American Adolescents

African Americans are resilient and strong. We are a dynamic and diverse people rich with cultural wealth (Yosso, 2005) and multiple strengths (e.g., Hurd, 1995; Littlejohn-Blake & Darlin, 1993; Mattis et al., 2003). But this may not be the tale you've been told.

More likely you've heard stories of poverty, violence, disadvantage, and lack (Mattis et al., 2016; Yosso, 2005). When you hear terms like "achievement gap" or "school-to-prison pipeline," our children and youth may be the first faces you picture. You may have heard labels like "at risk" to describe these young people rather than factors or life circumstances (DeFreitas, 2020). In higher education, you may regard our scholars as exceptions rather than as the rule. And if you follow mainstream media, the few stories of African Americans thriving and doing well will be limited to other outliers—the athletes and celebrities among us. In television and film, you'll likely see one-dimensional stereotypes and caricatures meant to represent us despite our multidimensionality, character, and complexity. And on the evening news, you may catch the relentless negative stories, messages, and images diminishing our value and self-worth—the costs of which include self-doubt, limiting beliefs, and internalized racism (Jones, 2000).

Regretfully, flourishing is not a word commonly used to describe African Americans or our story—even in helping professions like education or psychology. Despite our value and strengths, African Americans have been historically underrepresented and even pathologized in scholarly research (Pedrotti & Edwards, 2017; Rao & Donaldson, 2015). The limited and pertinent data and inquiries about us often emphasize negative life outcomes, suffering, and risk (DeFreitas, 2020; Delgado, 1989; Mattis et al., 2016; Yosso, 2005)—perpetuating these deficiency narratives. But again, African Americans are resilient and strong.

The stories of love that our mothers and grandmothers tell are not these stories. The stories of belonging that our families and communities share with one another are not these stories. The stories of hope preached from the pulpits of our churches are not these stories. The stories of redemption of our poets and preachers, scholars and teachers are not these stories. And although chapters of our story have been smeared with blood, sweat, and tears of injustice, we are far more than the worst things that have happened to us. Generation after generation of our individual and collective stories will tell you that indeed, African Americans are resilient and strong.

#### **Our Stories**

Since our earliest days as *Homo sapiens*, humans have been telling and sharing stories (Bayer & Hettinger 2019). Through storytelling, we convey emotions, connect with others, and make sense of our lives and our experiences (Bayer & Hettinger, 2019; Bruner, 1990; McAdams, 1995). Narratives scholar Angus Fletcher (2021) postulates that narratives were one of our first great powers.

Storytelling is a staple in African American culture (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). Through drawing (e.g., Azéma & Rivère, 2012), song, spoken and written word (Delgado, 1989), our stories have connected us to ourselves, to others, and to one another for generations. These narratives have given meaning to our struggles, sustained our survival, shaped our identities, and illuminated our humanity (Delgado, 1989; Tomasulo & Pawelski, 2012).

*Personal narratives*—that is, the coherent life stories comprised of a beginning and end that connect the events of our lives—have the power to shape our identities, experiences, and our narrative trajectory (Jones et al., 2018; McAdams, 2001). How we construct and make meaning

# MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

of these stories can affect not only our relationships, work, self-perception, motivation, achievement, and life outcomes, it can also affect how we respond to the events in our lives (Jones et al., 2018). Further, how we connect ourselves to these events can affect our sense of self, mental health, and well-being (Adler 2012; Bauer et al., 2008; Pasupathi et al., 2007).

Our *narrative identities*—that is, these internalized life stories—evolve throughout our lifespan; but they begin and take root during adolescence (McAdams, 1985, 2011). In adolescence, we begin to notice connections between our *selves* in different contexts at different times. We begin to string these disparate observations of self into a cohesive story (Habermas & Bluck, 2000). Expert on adolescent development, Laurence Steinberg (2014), refers to adolescence as an "age of opportunity" due to the heightened neuroplasticity and cognitive development that take place during this time of life (Steinberg, 2005). For the first time in our lives, we can think abstractly and hold multiple ideas in mind at once. We can make causal connections between ourselves and our experiences (McLean, 2008; Steinberg, 2005). And importantly, through the constructing and sharing of our stories—processes by which our identities emerge—we can make meaning of these experiences, both individually and collectively (McLean et al., 2007; McLean, 2008).

Research suggests that personal, collective, and historical-group narratives can predict adolescents' academic outcomes (Bikmen, 2015). Depending on how we frame them, the stories we tell—and believe—can affect motivation, behavior, competence, perceptions, and how we respond to the inevitable challenges of school, work, relationships, and life (Jones et al., 2018). Depending on how they're told, adolescent narratives can promote persistence and academic achievement (Jones et al., 2018). Patterns in the stories we tell about our lives often reflect and correspond to our well-being (Bauer et al., 2008). And for better or worse, during these formative years of our lives, we may integrate societal, cultural, and collective narratives into the crafting and shaping of our personal ones. So, for the last year, I've been wondering, what might happen if we strategically—considerately—intervened?

# **OurStory:** A Positive Intervention Opportunity

In the United States, millions of students apply to college each year (National Center for Education Statistics, 2021a). And for most, this process demands that they craft an essay or personal statement. These essays often require students to consider who they are and who they hope to become. For many, this may be the first time they use their own words to reflect on their values and strengths. It may be the first time they reflect on their life challenges and their beliefs. And it may be the first time they imagine how they will contribute to society and the world. The college admission essay is a personal narrative that millions of students are writing every year (e.g., Freeman et al., 2021), and I believe it presents an invaluable and untapped intervention opportunity.

In this paper, I will present the situation and research case supporting this belief. I'll offer perspectives on the threats and opportunities—specifically to African American youth—inherent in the college admission essay and application process. Then, I'd like to escort you through an extensive literature review of theory, research, and practices from narrative, social, and positive psychology, each of which have informed and inspired the intervention plan I'll present in the final section of the paper. This intervention, *OurStory*, has the potential not only to positively affect college matriculation and academic outcomes for African American adolescents, but it also has the potential to reinforce the resilience and strength at the heart of the African American story. I believe *OurStory* can nurture a more positive collective narrative, promote positive

personal narratives, and increase our students' well-being. So, to begin, let's situate ourselves in the science of well-being.

#### **Positive Psychology | The Science of Well-Being**

Positive psychology is the scientific study of the qualities, traits, and conditions that foster both individual and communal well-being (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000; Sheldon et al., 2000). It is distinct in its focus on subjective experiences, strengths, and the use of scientific rigor to investigate and promote the positive and worthwhile (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). Since its inception, the field has been discontented to fix solely what is wrong, but rather, intent to foster what is right (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000).

In his seminal work, *Motivation and Personality*, humanistic psychologist Abraham Maslow (1954) may have been the first to use the term "positive psychology," which he included in the title of the book's final chapter. Nearly 70 years ago, Maslow noted that the field of psychology knew more about humanity's shortcomings than its heights—emphasizing just half of a whole. As such, he proposed the exploration of positive psychological concepts, including love, kindness, optimism, and human potential (Maslow, 1954).

Forty-five years later, in his presidential address to the American Psychological Association, psychology researcher and scholar, Martin Seligman (1999) picked up on this thread. He suggested that in its hyperfocus since World War II on pathology and mental illness, psychology had unwittingly limited its scope and departed from its early intention to make people's lives better. He observed that the field was well-versed in equipping people to weather adversity, but ill-equipped to help everyday people thrive in everyday life. Accordingly, Seligman concluded his address with a call to action to the field's researchers and practitioners to become students and scholars of the good life. He charged them to shift their perspectives on mental illness to include mental health; to reorient their focus from weaknesses to strengths; to explore how to foster these traits in youth; and to adopt a mission rooted in science to help people cultivate the qualities and conditions that make life worth living (Seligman, 1999).

# Strengths and Interventions: The Legacies of Positive Psychology

Positive psychology was conceptualized as a complement to existing and mainstream branches of psychology, which for over 20 years, it has been. Arguably, two of its most important contributions to the field include a formalized classification of character strengths and virtues—that is, a common language to describe what's best in us (Peterson & Seligman, 2004)—and positive psychology interventions (PPIs), which are intentional activities purposed to increase well-being (Lyubomirsky, 2001).

# Table 1

	Virtues					
	Courage	Humanity	Justice	Temperance	Transcendence	Wisdom
	Bravery	Kindness	Fairness	Forgiveness	Appreciation of beauty/excellence	Creativity
	Honesty	Love	Leadership	Humility	Gratitude	Curiosity
Character Strengths	Perseverance	Social intelligence	Teamwork	Prudence	Hope	Judgment
U	Zest	C		Self- regulation	Humor	Love of learning
					Spirituality	Perspective

VIA Classification of Character Strengths and Virtues

© Copyright 2004 – 2022. Via Institute on Character. All Rights Reserved. Used with permission. www.viacharacter.org

Our 24 character strengths, the positive aspects of our personalities (Niemiec, 2018) shown in Table 1, are pathways to and through which we express the six core virtues—courage, humanity, justice, temperance, transcendence, and wisdom—valued by thinkers, leaders, and

saints throughout history (Park & Peterson, 2009; Peterson & Seligman, 2004). Research shows that using our strengths can positively impact our relationships, performance, engagement, emotions, and more (Park et al., 2004). It can make our lives more meaningful, satisfying (Park et al., 2004), and foster well-being (Niemiec, 2018).

In an exploration of well-being literature, positive psychology scholars found that our genetics and life circumstances contribute only partially to our happiness (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005). Through intentional activities such as PPIs, they determined, we have within our control, the ability to sustain and/or augment our levels of happiness (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005). Some of the earliest, most researched, and longest enduring PPIs include counting our blessings, writing letters of gratitude, and using our character strengths in a new way (Seligman et al., 2005; Lyubomirsky & Layous, 2013). Subsequent meta-analyses have shown that these PPIs can increase happiness (Sin & Lyubomirsky, 2009) and well-being (e.g., Boiler et al., 2013; Carr et al., 2021).

Noting that the field has been slow to grow past these early research-validated interventions, positive psychology scholar James Pawelski (2020) recently proposed a methodological approach that distills PPIs into their core components. These elements include *activity*, an intentional action; *active ingredient*, the factor that leads to change; *the targeted change*; *the target system*, which refers to the domain in which a change occurs; and finally, the *desired outcome*. With this elements model, researchers and practitioners can clarify which elements work best together to promote change across contexts. Additionally, they can analyze and synthesize more interventions to continue to move the field forward (Pawelski, 2020).

# **Broadening Perspectives on Well-Being**

Since Seligman formalized its emergence, the field of positive psychology has evolved and expanded to include more perspectives and a variety of applications, in the humanities and education, for example. Although the exploration and pursuit of human flourishing and wellbeing has remained a focal point, its substance, scope, and specifics have been ongoing topics of development, discussion, and debate. Some scholars posit that well-being is that which we choose for its own sake when our basic biological needs—including food, water, shelter, safety, and attachment—are met (Ryan & Deci, 2000; Seligman, 2011). Over a decade after his presidential address, Seligman (2011) proposed that free people choose PERMA—positive emotions, engagement, positive relationships, meaning, and accomplishment—as a desired end.

Others underscore the dialectical nature of flourishing and well-being, citing the tension, coexistence, and interdependence of the light and dark aspects of life (Lomas & Ivtzan, 2016). The "positive" in positive psychology isn't a straightforward definition, note still more scholars (e.g., McNulty & Fincham, 2012), because even the best of lives hold both "positive" and "negative" aspects (Pawelski, 2016). Accordingly, a comprehensive positive psychology and science of human flourishing requires more nuanced, complex, and multidimensional perspectives than the ideas that characterized its origins (Lomas & Ivtzan, 2016; Lomas et al., 2020).

Still others underscore the critical role of culture, values, and beliefs in discourse regarding human flourishing (Constantine and Sue 2006). One's culture can be a primary influencer in the shaping, development, and cultivation of character, virtues, and strengths (Lopez et al., 2006). As such, many scholars assert cultural context is inextricable from wellbeing and optimal human functioning (e.g., Constantine & Sue, 2006; Pedrotti & Edwards, 2017).

Over the years, responses to positive psychology have not all been positive. Some have criticized the field for the persons, perspectives, and stories it has omitted, marginalized, or misrepresented, African Americans included. Some contend that the field has discounted the importance not only of cultural context but also of interpersonal context in the creation and optimal implementation of positive interventions (McNulty & Fincham, 2012). Some assert that the field has overlooked the intersectional challenges that many face (Kern et al., 2020). And early critics underscored its ethnocentrism, basis on Western culture and values, research samples comprised primarily of White Americans, and interventions targeting wealthy individuals, communities, and countries (Constantine & Sue, 2006; Gillham et al., 2019; Jeglic et al., 2016; Rao & Donaldson, 2015).

In my own experience, I've observed hurdles and limitations in accessing positive psychology research. Fortified behind paywalls and expensive degrees, abstruse journal articles summarizing and discussing the implications of research findings appear to be exchanged primarily between academics. After a year as a student in the field, I've labored through numerous journal articles written in heady language that everyday people may not understand. In many cases, those outside of academia must primarily access research through the interpretations of others. And regretfully, in my research for this paper, I too have observed that many researchers have told only one side of a multidimensional story, reinforcing stereotypes and negative biases.

Additionally, a systematic review and content analysis of peer-reviewed positive psychology literature spanning 1998–2014 revealed among other things, a lack of attention to

diversity or issues pertaining to African Americans and other people of color (Rao & Donaldson, 2015). As Jacqueline Mattis and colleagues (2016) aptly observed, "the field has not imagined African Americans as people who experience joys, desires, passion, and growth or who make love or compassionate sacrifices for others" (p. 85).

However, more scholars in the field are calling for an increasingly accurate, culturally competent, inclusive, and accessible positive psychology (Pedrotti & Edwards, 2017). And as the field continues to evolve, priorities and perspectives are changing. More positive psychology researchers and practitioners are adopting a systems approach; considering the importance of social, historical, and cultural context in their work; shifting their vantage points to include more non-Western cultures; and recognizing how in doing so, perceptions of well-being may look differently for different people (Lomas et al., 2020). Scholars are recognizing the need for greater inclusion of underrepresented groups—not only as subjects of inquiry, but also as practitioners and researchers (Rao & Donaldson, 2015). In addition to writing popular press books, posting to social media, or creating informative websites for mainstream audiences, more scholars are adopting a model of open access, leveraging digital technology to make research literature publicly available online (Yiotis, 2005). And renowned academic programs, such as the Master of Applied Positive Psychology program at the University of Pennsylvania, have created massive open online courses (MOOCs) through platforms like Coursera to make this work more accessible to more people (College of Liberal and Professional Studies, n.d.).

In its focus on what is right with us, rather than fixation on what is not, positive psychology is uniquely poised to right wrongs and reframe perspectives. Building on the strengths of the past and leveraging present-day insights, researchers, scholars, and practitioners are expanding the applications of positive psychology and reconsidering the construction and scope of positive interventions (Pawelski, 2020). As the world and the field continue to evolve, so too can the stories we live, tell, and choose to believe.

# Part I-Situation Analysis | Obstacles and Opportunities on Pathways to College

I believe the case for higher education is compelling and strong. Post-secondary schooling has the power to both elevate and liberate. It can promote personal, professional, relational, and societal benefits, including higher incomes and lower unemployment rates (U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022); increased productivity and civic engagement (Ma et al., 2019); longer life (Hummer & Hernandez, 2013), better health and well-being, as well as downstream posterity benefits (Ma et al., 2019). In June 2022, the average weekly earnings of a full-time worker with a college degree were 65% higher than those of a worker with a high school diploma (U. S. Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2022). Further, college-degree earners are less likely to smoke, to be obese, or to receive a depression diagnosis (Rosenbaum, 2012). And in the United States, the remaining life expectancy of 25-year old adults with a college degree has been reported as many as 10 years longer than adults who have not completed high school (Hummer & Hernandez, 2013).

Despite the benefits of higher education, college enrollment numbers have been in a slow and steady decline since 2010 (National Center for Education Statistics, 2021b). Nevertheless, millions of students remain on multiple pathways toward college. In 2020, roughly 63% of the 3.1 million students who graduated from high school or completed an equivalent credential transitioned immediately from high school to college (National Center for Education Statistics, 2022). And for many, the college admission application was the gateway between the two. For example, in 2020, over 1.5 million first-year students submitted over 6.6 million college applications by way of the Common Application, a non-profit portal that enables students to complete one application and submit it to multiple colleges and universities (Freeman et al., 2021).

# The College Admission and Application Process

In the U.S., college admission applications are often comprised of a student-information section, where students provide summary and sociodemographic information about themselves, including personal and family history, grade point average (GPA), standardized test scores, extracurricular activities, work experience, awards, and honors. Students must also provide teacher evaluations or recommendations, and their school counselors must furnish school-summary information and a student evaluation. In addition to paying an application fee or applying for a fee waiver, students often respond to short-answer questions. Lastly, they must select from a list of prompts to write at least one college admission essay (Common App, n.d.). In theory, this comprehensive and straightforward application gives admission committees a sense not only of what applicants do, how they think, and how they write, but also of who they are and who they hope to become. In theory, it enables students to pitch themselves to colleges and universities and to begin their pursuit of the opportunities that a college degree affords.

However, the college admission and application process does not necessarily afford equal opportunities. In the past, some researchers posited that curriculum-based standard assessments reinforce academic rigor, promote content alignment across schools, and are the fairest and most effective college admission assessments (Atkinson & Geiser, 2009). But as more research findings have become available, some of the same researchers have subsequently concluded otherwise (e.g., Geiser, 2017).

Researchers and sociologists have asserted that in both their structure and substance, standardized exams such as the SAT tend to favor the privileged (Reeves & Halikias, 2017).

Further, test scores positively correlate with both income status and race (Geiser & Santelices, 2007; Rosinger et al., 2021). And studies have shown that for some students, inquiries regarding their race and/or ethnicity prior to a standardized exam, for example, may compromise performance (Steele & Aronson, 1995). Lastly, in a small, qualitative study (N = 227) examining urban African-American and Latino high school students' perceptions of the SAT, students regarded the exam as an unfair obstacle, citing a lack of test-taking information, reliance on uninformed school officials, and stress regarding scoring expectations (Walpole et al., 2005).

Through their high schools, many students may have access to college counseling centers or guidance counseling personnel, but college-preparatory resources are hardly equitable either (Grodsky et al., 2008). Many students lack the access and advantages that can come with a college-preparatory and/or advanced-placement curriculum (Iatarola et al., 2011), standardized exam preparation courses, private tutors and counselors, socioeconomic security, and/or ethnic-majority status. Students of low socioeconomic status tend to work more, study less, have lower grades, and participate in fewer extracurricular activities than students of high economic status (Walpole, 2003; 2008). And selective colleges and universities enroll disproportionate numbers of White students of high socioeconomic status (National Center for Education Statistics, 2021b; 2022).

In efforts to abate these inequities, many admission committees have adopted more holistic selection criteria (e.g., evaluations of interviews, essays, extracurriculars, and academic rigor; Rosinger et al., 2021). However, the ambiguity and implicit expectations of these criteria may exacerbate disparity in college admissions (Rosinger et al., 2021; Warren 2013). Some students have minimal support at home and/or uncertainty about how to navigate the college selection, financing, application, and essay-writing processes (University of Washington & Washington State University, 2013). Such inequities not only limit post-graduation options, but on a deeper level, they may diminish one's belief in their ability to change their circumstances (Coleman et al., 1966); undermine one's sense of belonging (Walton & Cohen, 2007); and reinforce biases, stereotypes, and internalized narratives of insufficiency (Jones, 2000)—not only for the students that lack resources, support, and status, but also for the students, teachers, and admissions officers who have them (University of Washington & Washington State University, 2013).

#### **Threats to Higher Education**

As enrollment and achievement gaps widen, debilitating narratives and pervasive stereotypes persist. *Stereotype threat,* which essentially positions stereotypes as self-fulfilling prophecies, is particularly destructive because it puts kids at risk of confirming them (Steele & Aronson, 1995). Negative stereotypes about students' intellect in performance conditions not only undermine standardized test scores (Danaher & Crandall, 2008; Steele, 1997) and admissions outcomes (Logel et al., 2012), but they can also adversely affect academic performance and aspiration (Spencer et al., 2016), increase stress, compromise well-being, and provoke self-destructive behavior (Sherman et al., 2000). Stereotype threat activates a cascade of negative automatic thoughts (Steele & Aronson, 1995), underestimation of one's own abilities (Walton & Spencer, 2009), and subsequent underperformance (Walton & Spencer, 2009)— especially in those who strongly identify with a stigmatized or stereotyped group (Spencer et al., 2016).

Two meta-analyses—the first in laboratory conditions (N = 3,180) and the second in composite field experiments (N = 15,796)—investigated the effects of stereotype threat on performance. Under stereotype-threatening conditions, stereotyped African American students

#### MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

initially performed worse than non-stereotyped students of comparable past performance. However, they performed significantly better than non-stereotyped students of comparable past performance in conditions where the stereotype threat was reduced or removed (Walton & Spencer, 2009). These *latent abilities* suggest that commonly used and oftentimes stereotypethreatening evaluations such as standardized exams may not only undermine stigmatized students' performance, but they may also underestimate their abilities (Logel et al., 2012).

In 2020, the Covid-19 pandemic illuminated systemic racial disparities in the United States and brought them to the forefront. When compared with White Americans, for example, Black Americans were nearly twice as likely to die from Covid-19 (Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, 2022). Lower income, Black, and Hispanic students were less likely to learn remotely in optimal conditions (e.g., high-speed internet, a dedicated device, and parental support and supervision) or to log into remote-learning school environments consistently (Dorn et al., 2020). And learning losses that occurred as a result of such conditions were projected to impact low-income students of color the most (Dorn et al., 2020).

In the world of college admissions, as standardized-exam dates were delayed and/or canceled due to lock downs, hundreds of colleges and universities suspended their SAT and/or ACT requirements (Brooks, 2020; Freeman et al., 2021; Nadworny, 2020; Orbey, 2022; Strauss, 2020). As the world has been opening back up again, in addition to acknowledging the inherent inequities that may accompany such requirements, more colleges and universities are noting compelling research findings that support abandoning them (Geiser, 2017).

Of note, although both test scores and high school GPA can predict college success, GPA is a stronger predictor of academic achievement and graduation rates (Allensworth & Clark, 2020; Geiser & Santelices, 2007; Stumpf & Stanley, 2002). Additionally, multi-year and/or

22

intensive participation in extracurricular activity is linked with positive academic and civic outcomes, both short- and long-term (Gardner et al., 2008). And several researchers underscore the importance not only of traditional academic measures, but also of noncognitive factors (e.g., mindset, grit, motivation, self-discipline, and social belonging) in promoting positive college outcomes (Duckworth & Yeager, 2015). As such, more colleges are weighting GPA, recommendations, student activities, and college essays more heavily (Brooks, 2020; Furuta, 2017). Of course this practice can still be advantageous to some kids while disadvantageous to others. However, test-blind and test-optional college admissions may also present a timely intervention opportunity.

# The Admission Essay Opportunity

Historically, admission committees have used the college admission essay and application to predict which applicants will fit well and add the most value to their student bodies and school communities. These essays and applications have also been an insightful tool for predictive research. For example, in one study leveraging machine learning, data analytics, and a longitudinal dataset of 41,358 college admission applications, researchers predicted graduation rates for 70% of the sample of prospective students based solely on the information they provided in their applications (Hutt et al., 2018). Another longitudinal study analyzed the text of more than 50,000 admission essays written by more than 25,000 incoming college students. In this study, Pennebaker and colleagues (2014) discovered that how we write and the words—specifically the short words—we use may be able to predict the sorts of grades we will achieve, or at least predict the cognitive and writing styles often validated in higher education. The researchers tracked participants' grades for the duration of their college tenure. Text analyses revealed that students with higher grades used more articles (e.g., a, an, the) and prepositions

(e.g., along, beside) in their essays. Students with lower grades tended to use more auxiliary verbs (e.g., am, is, are), pronouns (e.g., I, me, us), adverbs (e.g., especially, quickly, slowly), conjunctions (e.g., although, because, unless), and negations (e.g. no, not, never; Pennebaker et al., 2014).

To date, the college admission essay has been a beneficial tool to admission committees, scholars, and researchers alike. But I believe it can be a beneficial tool for students—particularly marginalized and negatively stereotyped students—as well.

Here are a few essay-prompt excerpts from the 2021–2022 Common App: Recount a time when you faced a challenge, setback, or failure... What did you learn from this experience? Reflect on a time when you questioned or challenged a belief or idea... What was the outcome? Discuss an accomplishment, event, or realization that sparked a period of personal growth and a new understanding of yourself or others... Describe a topic, idea, or concept you find so engaging that it makes you lose all track of time (Common App, n.d.).

Students may not realize it as they're sludging through college applications or scrambling to meet deadlines, but in just four questions, the Common Application has explored positive psychological concepts including resilience, beliefs, accomplishment, growth, and flow— concepts that promote flourishing and well-being (Seligman, 2011). Admission essays may be the first time these students have ever considered how such concepts have affected or will affect their life outcomes. Writing a college admission essay may be a student's first attempt to distill their personal narrative. It may present their first opportunity to tell their own story.

As I've detailed above, there are many hurdles and conditions that could and have compromised well-being and littered pathways to higher education for marginalized and

#### MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

stereotyped students, including many African American youth. But research suggests that one effective strategy to combat stereotype threat and to promote positive long-term outcomes is to reflect on one's identity and important personal values (Cohen et al., 2006; Cohen et al., 2009), tasks students must complete in order to write an admission essay. Additionally, when a sample of seniors at a low-performing urban high school received explicit instructions regarding the implicit expectations of admissions committees, the essays of students in the experimental group scored significantly higher than those of students in the control group (Warren, 2013).

Importantly, the college admission essay is a narrative tool millions of students are already using each year during a time of critical life transition. Yes, it has been used and can continue to be used to predict academic outcomes. And yet, I wonder how much more valuable this ubiquitous tool could be if we reimagined it as a means by which to improve academic, matriculation, and well-being outcomes.

Leveraging the college admission essay as a narrative tool, I've conceptualized an intervention program targeting African American and other marginalized high school juniors and seniors. I hope this program, *OurStory*, will help all of us move beyond identifying and reinforcing the problems outlined above to the critical work of transforming them. Before we get into the details of this program, we'll turn next to the research and literature that inspired it.

# Part II—Literature Review | Building a Program Grounded in Research

As you've likely experienced, and I've intimated thus far, there are multiple ways to tell the same story. The stories we tell can shape both culture and reality (Jones et al., 2018; Delgado, 1989; McAdams, 2001). Some scholars assert that *master narratives*, stories that amplify majority voices and either silence or distort minority ones, are one-sided tales oftentimes rooted in racism (Montecinos, 1995; Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). These stories, which may include seemingly objective research, reinforce harmful deficit narratives and perpetuate racialized perceptions of people of color (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). But stories can also be used to promote social justice, strengthen traditions, challenge threats to well-being, and amplify the voices we don't often hear from (Miller et al., 2020; Solórzano & Yosso, 2002).

### **Critical Counternarratives**

*Counternarratives* dispute deficit-based models with a model of strength. Also referred to as *counterstories*, critical counternarratives challenge dominant narratives and widespread beliefs, ascribing value to the epistemologies of people of color (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). The concept is based in critical race theory (CRT), which originated as a movement to acknowledge the role of racism in American law (Delgado, 1989; Matsuda, 1991). CRT has since evolved to a cross-disciplinary framework that explores the impact of race and racism in the fabric of society (Yosso, 2005) and a methodology that fosters research, practices, and applications rooted in the stories and experiences of people of color (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). This framework would suggest that in any discourse regarding academic achievement, college admissions, personal, collective, and societal narratives, and/or African American well-being, we must also critically consider both the implicit and explicit influences of race (Yosso, 2005).

Counternarratives amplify the voices of marginalized communities (Miller et al., 2020), benefitting both the storyteller and the listener (Delgado, 1989). They can highlight strengths, build community, challenge and transform belief systems, illuminate new possibilities, and promote a richer reality (Solórzano & Yosso, 2002). In the words of Richard Delgado (1989), the legal scholar who introduced the concept, "they can open new windows into reality, showing us that there are possibilities for life other than the ones we live" (p. 2414). From this perspective, persons and communities of color are not regarded through a lens of disadvantage, poverty, achievement gaps, and lack. Rather, the focus shifts to our multitude of strengths and cultural wealth (Yosso, 2005). Our greatest strengths and primary sources of meaning are core positive psychology concepts, including family and kinship (Constantine & Sue, 2006; Schwartz et al., 2010), faith and spirituality, and our individual and collective resilience (DeFreitas, 2020). Researcher and scholar, Tara Yosso (2005) posits that people of color nurture at least six distinct types of cultural capital—aspirational, linguistic, familial, social, navigational, and resistant capital. We can hope for the future, and communicate cross-culturally not only through words but also by way of music, arts, and poetry. Our concept of family extends far and wide to include a community of kin (Schwartz et al., 2010). We care for one another, "lifting as we climb," navigating an assortment of social structures. We confront inequality, and we are cultivating resources to make things better (Yosso, 2005, p. 80).

But to affect change, we must evolve from theory to practice; we must progress from storytelling to action (Miller et al., 2020). In their practical model of transformational critical counternarratives, Miller and colleagues (2020) propose a model that begins with metacognitive awareness and progresses through becoming, internalization, and problem solving on the way to transformation. In this model, improving academic outcomes and well-being in African-American youth, for example, requires more than a hyperfocus on deficits but also an awareness and acknowledgement of strengths. It requires belief in these young people's ability to change, learn and grow from, and take transformative action in their situation (Miller et al., 2020).

# **Cultural Considerations When Implementing PPIs for African American Youth**

As others before me have argued, it is neither considerate nor sufficient to just add diversity and stir (Rao & Donaldson, 2015) when constructing, implementing and evaluating

positive psychology interventions for African American youth and other people of color. Constructs such as happiness, flourishing, life satisfaction, and strengths look and function differently across various cultural contexts (Diener et al., 2017; Pedrotti & Edwards, 2017). And key considerations may differ too. For example, discourse on African American flourishing and well-being must also include considerations of ethnic identity; deeply rooted systemic issues of privilege, racism, and class; as well as the deleterious effects of stereotypes and incessant negative messages about abilities and self-worth (Eshun & Packer, 2016). Effective programs must often consider, include, and/or leverage core relational structures such as family, church, and community (Eshun & Packer, 2016; Gillham et al., 2019).

As I will describe in more detail in the following pages, I believe that to foster positive personal narratives and improve academic and well-being outcomes in African American adolescents, we must consider all of the above and that which is to come. We must empower these kids to acknowledge and nurture their strengths, boost agency, and reframe beliefs. We must ascribe value as we encourage them to add value. We must foster belonging as they are becoming, and we must acknowledge progress as they progress.

Next, let's explore and unpack research and findings on adolescent well-being.

# **Adolescent Flourishing and Well-Being**

As we've already explored and research supports, there are multiple perspectives on, dimensions of, and ways to define well-being. Objective perspectives tend to emphasize material and social resources. Relational perspectives regard the personal, societal, and structural influences of others. And subjective perspectives emphasize our own perceptions of our lives and our experiences (Ross et al., 2020). Further, there's *hedonic* and *eudaimonic* well-being. The former focuses on pleasure whereas the latter tends to focus on meaning, growth, and the joy of approaching our true potential (Waterman, 1984). Subjective well-being (SWB)—that is, satisfaction with life, the presence of positive affect, and the absence of negative affect (Diener, 1984)—is associated with academic achievement (Bücker et al., 2018), health, and longevity (Diener & Chan, 2011). It is distinct from *psychological well-being* (PWB), which is about feeling good and also about functioning well (Huppert, 2009). PWB isn't about living a life absent of struggle, strife, or pain. Rather, PWB is about fostering the resources, capabilities, and support-such as autonomy, personal growth, positive relationships, purpose in life, and selfacceptance (Keyes et al., 2002; Ryff, 1989)-to manage life's inevitable stressors. One is said to have optimal well-being, which tends to increase with age and education, when measures of both SWB and PWB are high (Keyes et al., 2002). One final perspective comes from a well-being measurement scale that maps to the PERMA model, outlined above, but is adapted for adolescents. The five characteristics that foster well-being in adolescents are summarized by the acronym, EPOCH. It stands for *engagement*, that is, flow or complete absorption in what one is doing; *perseverance*, that is, persistence through challenges; *optimism*, that is, hope for the future and regarding situational challenges as temporary; *connectedness*, that is, mattering to and feeling close to and loved by others; and *happiness*, that is, an overall sense of joy and contentment about one's life (Kern et al., 2016). Overall, measures of well-being can protect against depression and foster creativity, connection, and good citizenship (Waters, 2011).

In school settings, support and perceived support (Chu et al., 2010), a positive school climate, and perceived *self-efficacy* (Steinmayr, 2018)—that is, belief in one's own abilities to meet the demands of a given situation (Bandura, 1977) —have each been linked with various measures of well-being. But for some students, school can only take them so far. As Kinloch and colleagues (2017) document in a case study of two African American males, these students'

school experience is a running narrative of who they are not and what they cannot do—master narratives that have compromised their well-being. As such, these young men have turned to engagements outside of school as counternarratives and supplemental sources of *literacy*, which the authors define as means of both creating and communicating meaning (Kinloch et al., 2017).

#### **Positive Youth Development**

Created in response to negative and deficit-based perspectives of adolescents, positive youth development (PYD) programs, which underscore young people's developmental potential, began to take root in the early 2000s (Damon, 2004). Early scholars noted that structured voluntary activities (e.g., extracurricular arts or sports programs) are linked with achievement, self-control, and self-efficacy. As such, they may be more conducive to the development of initiative (i.e., intrinsic motivation and deep engagement) than standard schoolwork and/or unstructured leisure (Larson, 2000). PYD is structured activity that, among other things, seeks to accomplish at least one of the following: promote bonding and positive identity; foster resilience, self-efficacy, self-determination, hope, and/or optimism about the future (Catalano et al., 2004).

In a meta-analysis of 25 PYD programs, 96% mitigated problem behaviors (e.g. smoking and aggression) and 76% promoted positive outcomes linked with well-being (e.g., academic commitment and achievement, self-efficacy, and improved relationships; Catalano et al., 2004). Effective positive youth development programs can contribute mightily to student well-being. They can take place both inside and outside of the classroom, documenting a multitude of experiences and leveraging multimodal media.

In a qualitative study of 40 students of color enrolled in a college-preparatory summer program, participants echoed these sentiments (Dunn et al., 2022). In their own case, they were barraged with monolithic master narratives about the urban schooling experience. Their experiences, however, were not ones of poverty, violence, or lapses in achievement. Through the PYD program, they expressed the truth of their stories through a variety of "texts," including poetry, spoken word, video, social media posts, artwork, and expressive writing (Dunn et al., 2022).

# The Well-Being and Achievement Benefits of Expressive Writing

Expressive writing—a technique that involves writing about a stressful or traumatic event 15-20 minutes for three to five days—has been linked with improved health, physiological benefits, and increases in psychological well-being (Pennebaker & Beall, 1986; Smyth, 1998). Initially, this practice can be distressing (e.g., negative mood and blood pressure increases) but studies have shown that the benefits persist several month post intervention (Pennebaker & Beall, 1986) and have lasted a year or more (Pennebaker et al., 1989). Findings from a meta-analysis of 21 studies examining expressive-writing interventions specifically crafted for adolescents revealed that these writing interventions produce a small but significant effect on well-being (Travagin et al., 2015). They can be particularly impactful on academic outcomes for students with emotional issues (Travagin et al., 2015). However, some experience a *self-reflection paradox* in which this expression of and reflection on intense emotion takes a negative turn toward rumination and ill-being (Kross & Ayduk, 2011; Sales et al, 2013). Distancing oneself from the writing experience (e.g., writing in third person) can help to foster more adaptive self-reflection (Kross & Ayduk, 2011).

Although some studies have found that participants reported higher well-being when writing about negative events (e.g., Lyubomirsky et al., 2006), a host of other past and presentday studies show that positively focused expressive writing interventions can be as or even more beneficial than negatively focused writing. For example, writing about one's life goals and best self can be equally beneficial (King, 2001). Additionally, researchers Chad Burton and Laura King (2004) explored the effects of writing about intensely positive experiences (IPEs) rather than stressful or traumatic ones. In a sample of 90 undergraduate students, roughly half were assigned to write about IPEs in 20-minute sessions over three consecutive days. The researchers found that when compared with the control group, the IPE experimental group showed immediate boosts in mood and fewer health visits three months post-intervention (Burton & King, 2004). In two randomized, double-blind field experiments at the beginning of a school year—an initial study and a follow-up replication study—two cohorts of African American (N =119) and European American (N = 124) 7<sup>th</sup> grade students were assigned to either a treatment group in which they selected and wrote a 15-minute in-class assignment affirming their most important personal values or a control group in which they selected their least important values and for 15 minutes wrote why someone else might value them. For nearly 70% of the African American students in the collective sample, this brief and timely writing intervention reduced psychological threats and activated a cascade of small and cumulative positive events as discussed in Part I of this paper. The intervention had no effect on the European American students in the sample. But when compared to the control group, African American students earned higher grades in core academic classes by semester's end (Cohen et al., 2006). Particularly for students in the sample who were initially low achieving, the gains persisted through the following academic year (Cohen et al., 2009), and in a follow-up study 7–9 years later, those students who participated in the values-affirmation intervention were more likely to enroll in college (Goyer et al., 2017). Burton and King (2008) found that even very brief (viz., two minutes for two days) expressive writing interventions yielded positive results for participants who wrote about traumatic events as well as those who wrote about positive

experiences. In follow-up measures 4–6 weeks post-intervention, participants in each of the randomized experimental groups reported fewer health complaints than participants in the control group (Burton & King, 2008). Finally, in a recent randomized control trial (N = 350), students who wrote about their successes, positive experiences, and included self-as-competent themes in their narratives, showed improved academic outcomes when compared to a control group (Jones & Destin, 2021). Notably, resilience-themed narratives were not linked with any academic gains and students eventually returned to baseline, underscoring the importance of strategies and support to promote lasting change.

The literature suggests that an extracurricular positive youth development program that leverages expressive writing may indeed be an effective way to promote positive personal narratives and improve both academic and well-being outcomes for African American youth. But as we'll explore further, developing interventions that foster lasting change and long-term effects requires both consideration and precision. It's not enough to throw money and resources at another program that tells kids what to do and what to believe, or worse, that tells kids what not to do and what not to believe. In fact, such efforts may backfire (Yeager et al., 2018). To be effective, interventions for adolescents must target specific psychological processes (Walton, 2014) and afford status and respect (Yeager et al., 2018). As we'll see, some of the most effective interventions may not even seem like interventions at all to the kids who benefit from them (Walton & Wilson, 2018).

Even with limitless resources, it is not possible to intervene and change every kid's objective reality. Gratefully, this may not be the point. Again, there are multiple ways to tell the same story. Helping kids tell a different story about their lives and their experiences may be far more of a subjective endeavor in helping them to reinterpret or reframe their stories. For the

remainder of this literature review, we'll explore the three concept pillars that comprise the *OurStory* curriculum, an intervention designed to do just that. Additionally, we'll further unpack key considerations in the creation of effective interventions. The program pillars—Beliefs, Belonging, and Becoming—and the core concepts shown in Table 2 that underlie them will be critical as students craft, reframe, and continue to refine their personal narratives.

#### Table 2

**OurStory Core Pillars and Underlying Concepts** 

Core Concepts				
Beliefs	Agency, self-efficacy, growth mindset			
Belonging	Relationships, mattering, belonging			
Becoming	Prospection + narrative identity			

#### Beliefs

"Your beliefs become your thoughts. Your thoughts become your words. Your words become your actions. Your actions become your habits. Your habits become your values. Your values become your destiny"—Mohandas Gandhi (Verbatim, 2006, p. 5).

Agency. In our life stories, we are not only the main characters; we are also contributing authors. Herein lies the core concept of human agency. Put simply, agency is our ability to impact our lives and circumstances through our actions (Bandura, 2001). When we are agentic, we have the capacity for intentionality and forethought; we can both respond to and reflect on our experiences (Bandura, 2001). At different times of our lives and across diverse cultures and contexts, we exercise our agency in a variety of ways—personally, through others, or collectively (Bandura 2001). But agency scholar and pioneer Albert Bandura (2006) asserts that regardless of our culture, life stage, or context, we each require the expression of all three.

Agency first takes root during infancy. As babies, we begin to notice causal relationships in the world around us—we observe that this leads to that. Our sense of agency evolves as we discover that we can cause events and affect change in our environments and in our lives. We discover that our actions produce outcomes. (Bandura, 2006). As our life stories continue, our sense of agency flourishes or fizzles through childhood and adolescence. As the circumstances around us change, we notice that we continue; our self-identity emerges (McAdams, 1996). As our narratives continue, we learn—or we don't—that what we do matters. In either case, this shapes our beliefs.

**Self-Efficacy.** Beliefs are the bedrock of human agency (Bandura, 1997). In order to affect change in our lives or our circumstances we must first believe that we can. This belief that our actions can affect change is known as *self-efficacy* (Bandura, 1977; 1997). Efficacy beliefs contribute to motivation, accomplishment, and well-being (Bandura, 2006). They affect our goals and aspirations (Zimmerman et al., 1992; Bandura et al., 2001), persistence through adversity, future expectations (Caprara et al, 2006), and choices in the midst of transition (Bandura, 2006). Self-efficacy promotes better health (Bandura, 1997), improved performance (Bandura, 1982), and it has been linked with life satisfaction and positive emotions (Caprara, 2006). Both directly and indirectly, self-efficacy can affect our career trajectories (Bandura et al., 2001), academic achievement (Valentine et al., 2004), and life outcomes.

In a study of motivational orientations, 407 undergraduate students reported their GPAs and completed a questionnaire and two scales on topics of motivation, goals, and theories of intelligence. Controlling for variables of age and sex, researchers found that students with low self-efficacy perceived intelligence as fixed, whereas students with high self-efficacy persisted through challenging coursework, prioritized mastery goals and acquiring new knowledge, and reported higher GPAs (Komarraju & Nadler, 2013).

When our efficacy beliefs are high, we are more likely to forge pathways to meaningful change. We think ahead and plan with great intention. We do what needs to be done and pivot as needed. And in the face of adversity or negative feedback, we persist, nevertheless. When our efficacy beliefs are low, however, we perceive our efforts as futile. As challenges arise—which in real life they inevitably do—we give up quickly (Bandura, 2006). We may make reasonable assumptions about ourselves or our circumstances based on our subjective experience. Unfortunately, even if these assumptions are inaccurate or untrue, they may become self-fulfilling narratives of our life experiences (Walton & Wilson, 2018). Perhaps most detrimentally, when we face failure, we attribute it to things we are powerless to change rather than factors that we can (Bandura, 2001).

During seasons of adversity, disruption of our core beliefs—especially when we embrace and engage with potential and new possibilities—can lead to growth and positive psychological change (Roepke & Seligman, 2015). Our deeply held beliefs inform our thoughts, the stories we tell ourselves, what we believe we can accomplish, and our *cognitive styles*—that is, how we interpret and respond to the events in our lives (Bandura, 1997, Beck & Dozois, 2011; Reivich & Shatté, 2002). As discussed above, repeated threats to our identity, including stereotype threats and internalized deficiency narratives, may not only compromise performance, they may lead to low self-efficacy and *learned helplessness* (Sedek & Kofka, 1990; Seligman & Maier, 1967).

Although we're not always cognizant of the thoughts that perpetually run through our minds, their impact on our stories are also profound. For example, according to research out of the University of Pennsylvania, cognitive styles are the number-one roadblock to resilience, our

ability to rebound from setbacks (Reivich & Shatté, 2002). According to cognitive theory, it is indeed possible to become aware of and to change our thoughts and beliefs. One way is by regarding them as testable hypotheses rather than facts. We can test the validity of our thoughts and beliefs, align them to evidence, and if necessary, reframe or revise them (Beck & Dozois, 2011).

Improving outcomes, moving forward, and affecting change in the trajectories of our lives begins with beliefs. Our beliefs inform what we think, what we do, and how we respond. So, as we craft and refine our personal and collective narratives, we may need to consider our beliefs. We may need to reconsider the stories we've been told and the chapters we've written thus far. Each chapter in our life stories affords opportunities to embrace or if necessary, to revise or reframe our beliefs. For many, this begs the question of how. In short, to change our beliefs—and outcomes—we may need to revise our mindset.

**Mindset.** Beliefs are also central to our mindsets. Also referred to in scholarly research as *implicit theories* or *lay theories* (Yeager & Dweck, 2012), *mindsets* are our deeply held assumptions about whether or not our personal attributes or characteristics can change (Dweck et al., 1995). Often implicitly, we craft explanations for many of the events that occur in our lives. These "theories" are at the root of our mindsets (Yeager & Dweck, 2012), and they can influence the tenor of a student's transition from high school to college (Yeager et al., 2016).

A *growth mindset* is a theory of intelligence or a belief that with effort, our intelligence and intellectual abilities can develop and change. Conversely, *a fixed mindset* is the belief that our intelligence is set and cannot be changed (Dweck & Leggett, 1988; Yeager & Dweck, 2012). Extensive research on the topics, in both lab and field experiments, has shown that a fixed mindset can impede effort, hinder persistence, and undermine achievement (Dweck & Leggett, 1988). A growth mindset can improve academic outcomes (e.g., Blackwell et al., 2007; Yeager et al., 2016; Yeager et al., 2019; Yeager et al., 2022), predict goal setting and achievement (Burnette et al., 2013), promote resilience (Yeager & Dweck, 2012), and in some cases, mitigate the deleterious effects of poverty (Claro et al., 2016). The positive academic effects of a growth mindset are most pronounced among low-achieving students (e.g., Paunesku et al., 2015; Yeager & Dweck, 2020; Yeager et al., 2019) and in environments or with people that support and reinforce its growth and development (Yeager et al., 2019; Yeager et al., 2022).

Mindset interventions have received a great deal of national attention, not only for their effectiveness but also for their scalability (Yeager & Dweck, 2020). For instance, in a study of nearly 1,600 students in 13 geographically diverse high schools, students were randomly assigned to one of two experimental groups—growth mindset or sense-of-purpose—or a control group. To the growth mindset group, researchers delivered a brief, online module about the brain-changing effects of hard work and the value of good strategies in tackling challenging tasks. Students were instructed to summarize the module content in their own words and to draft a letter of encouragement to a struggling student. Among low-achieving students in both experimental groups, the interventions raised their GPAs in core academic classes by 6.4% (Paunesku et al, 2015). Another self-administered growth-mindset intervention for a nationally representative sample of U.S. high school students (N = 6,320) delivered in less than an hour yielded similar results. Engaging only with online content, students learned, then subsequently taught younger students, that the brain is like a muscle that grows stronger and smarter through rigorous learning. Again, lower achieving students in the experimental group improved their GPAs, and they enrolled in advanced math courses in higher numbers (Yeager et al., 2019).

These brief online growth-mindset interventions at scale have yielded positive results with college matriculation rates as well. Across three randomized control, double-blind experiments (N > 9,500), researchers delivered a lay theory intervention designed to normalize common challenges in students' transition from high school to college. In the experimental group—comprised of 90% of the entering class—students received an article and accounts from older students' experiences, emphasizing a growth mindset and the value of working hard and persisting through challenging tasks. In concert with a social-belonging intervention, this intervention increased full-time student enrollment of first-generation and ethnic-minority students by 4%, increased students' GPAs at a selective private university, and reduced the number of negatively stereotyped students overly represented in the bottom 20% of the class (Yeager et al., 2016).

But social psychologists caution that mindset interventions are neither magic nor a panacea (Yeager & Walton, 2011). Context is critical, and they don't work the same for all students under every circumstance (Miller, 2019; Yeager & Dweck, 2020). Although the precollege intervention in the study detailed above affected matriculation rates, it did not impact college completion rates of the negatively stereotyped students in the sample (Yeager et al., 2016). A randomized study of a growth mindset intervention delivered to an ethnically diverse sample of 10th grade adolescent girls living in rural Southeastern U.S. (N = 222) found that although students in the experimental group reported increases in their growth mindset, the intervention showed null effects on their grades or academic attitudes (Burnette et al., 2018). Additionally, findings across three longitudinal studies of early adolescents (N = 207, 897, and 2325) illuminated the importance of concurrent *metacognitive skills*. This capacity to reflect on what one is learning predicted higher math engagement among students in the samples. Consequently, researchers recommend reinforcing metacognitive skills with growth mindset interventions—particularly among students from socioeconomically disadvantaged schools (Wang et al., 2021).

Our beliefs are indeed foundational to our sense of agency, self-efficacy, and to our mindset. And each of the above can promote positive psychological, performance, and life outcomes. However, decades of mindset research affirm that beliefs alone are insufficient to precipitate change. Change often requires action. Additionally, context is a key player in the adoption of beliefs (Hecht et al., 2021; Yeager & Dweck, 2020) and the likelihood of action. To be effective, belief-changing interventions must often be coupled with co-interventions designed to reinforce these beliefs in our environments—at home, in the classroom, in the community, (Hecht et al., 2021) and/or with the people in our lives. It's to these people that we'll turn our attention next.

## Belonging

"A deep sense of love and belonging is an irreducible need of all women, men, and children. We are biologically, cognitively, physically, and spiritually wired to love, to be loved, and to belong" –Brené Brown (2010, p. 26).

**Positive Relationships.** Developing and maintaining positive relationships and group memberships is one of our earliest and most critical developmental tasks (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Bowlby, 1988). Additionally, relationships and connection are foundational to several models of well-being. As explored above, for example, in Seligman's (2011) PERMA model, positive relationships are one of the five key pillars. And in her review of the core components of psychological well-being common across multiple well-being theories, Ryff (1989) also identified positive relationships in addition to autonomy, environmental mastery, personal growth, purpose, and self-acceptance. Similarly, self-determination theory asserts that as humans we have three primary psychological needs (Ryan & Deci, 2000). In addition to *autonomy* (i.e., freedom to choose) and *competence* (i.e., effectiveness or mastery in our pursuits), we each possess an inherent need for *relatedness*, that is, a need for belonging and connection with others. When these three needs are met, scholars contend, it promotes motivation and mental health. But when they go unmet, motivation diminishes and our well-being is compromised (Ryan & Deci, 2000).

The benefits in, around, and through our relationships abound. A meta-analysis of 246 studies showed a small but positive connection between social support and well-being. Specifically, social support was closely linked with self-concept and perceived social support with well-being (Chu et al., 2010). Social support has been linked with higher self-worth in low-income African American youth (McMahon et al., 2011). And perceived social support is positively linked with health, longevity, stress-management, and immune functioning (Cohen & Herbert, 1996). Relational caring and connection can protect adolescents from high-risk behaviors (Resnick et al., 1993), and connection across the key relationships in our lives, such as family, school, peers, and neighborhood, promotes well-being (Jose et al., 2012). How we interact matters as well. For instance, both sharing and enthusiastically responding to one another's good news not only enhances our connections but is also linked with positive emotions and relational well-being (Conoley et al., 2015; Gable et al., 2004). Our lives are often shaped, punctuated, and/or enhanced by the presence of others. And in our stories, as positive psychology pioneer Chris Peterson (2006) often said, "other people matter" (p. 249).

**Mattering.** *Mattering*, purports community psychologist Isaac Prilleltensky (2014), is a human pursuit along with the pursuit of well-being that make our lives meaningful and

## MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

worthwhile. Distinct from but rooted in belonging, which we will explore in more detail below, mattering is a close proxy that can contribute to both individual and collective well-being. Mattering is the perpetual dance—in our families, friendships, schools, communities, and in the world—between impact (i.e., agency and self-efficacy) and recognition (e.g., the need for inclusion, appreciation, and belonging; Prilleltensky, 2014). Mattering, which balances self with others, is the dance of "feeling valued and adding value" (Prilleltensky, 2020, p. 16). Optimally, as we feel valued, we're more likely to add value, and as we add value, we're more likely to feel valued. This virtuous cycle of giving and receiving—of feeling both valued and valuable—can promote connection and belonging (Crocker et al, 2017). According to Prilleltensky (2020), the need for both mattering and belonging are at the root of many of our behaviors. And each will be critical in the *OurStory* workshops and curriculum, which we will explore further in Part III of this paper.

The Need to Belong. The need to belong—that is, to develop and sustain ongoing relationships with others, is a primal and powerful motivator (Baumeister & Leary, 1995). In Maslow's (1968) oft-cited hierarchy of needs, our need for love and belonging is preceded only by our basic biological needs for food, water, shelter, and safety. Although this need manifests differently across peoples and cultures, pioneering scholars on the topic, Roy Baumeister & Mark Leary (1995) contend that this need is universal. Our need for belonging, also referred to as *belongingness*, affects how we think, feel, and act. Acceptance, inclusion, or the presence of belonging can foster health, well-being, and a host of positive emotions, including contentment or joy. Conversely, rejection, exclusion, or the absence of belonging can lead to mental or physical unrest, behavioral issues, and negative emotions, such as depression or grief (Baumeister & Leary, 1995).

In students, *belonging uncertainty*—a potential consequence of underrepresentation, stereotypes, and/or stigmatization-can undermine student achievement and motivation (Walton & Cohen, 2007). However, perceptions of belonging have been shown to improve academic outcomes (e.g., Williams et al., 2020) and decrease achievement and health disparities (e.g., Walton & Cohen, 2011). In a series of experiments that diminished college students' socialbelonging doubts, the post-intervention grades of the African American students in a multi-racial sample increased (Walton & Cohen, 2007). Further, a meta-analysis of belonging and secondaryeducation outcomes in high school students revealed a small-to-moderate correlation between school belonging and motivational (e.g., mastery goal orientation), social-emotional (e.g., selfefficacy), and behavioral (e.g., engagement) outcomes (Korpershoek et al., 2020). School belonging has been linked to higher enjoyment during school years characterized by a sense of belonging versus those characterized by an absence of belonging (Neel & Fuligni, 2013). And it is negatively linked with school absences and dropout rates (Korpershoek et al., 2020). Even cues of *mere belonging*, minor or chance connections with others, can add value, affect motivation, and influence self-identity (Walton et al., 2012).

Brief social-belonging interventions, which normalize concerns about belonging during academic transitions and position these challenges as both transient and improvable, have shown profound and lasting effects on both African American high school students (e.g., Williams et al., 2020) and college students (e.g., Walton & Cohen, 2011) in particular. The seminal randomized one-hour intervention (N = 92) improved GPAs, plus reported health and well-being three years post intervention of the African American college students (N = 49) in the study sample (Walton & Cohen, 2011). In a longitudinal follow-up study of the original sample, the African American adults who received the intervention as students 7–11 years earlier reported

greater career satisfaction, higher psychological well-being, and higher civic and community engagement (Brady et al., 2020). Although these adults didn't recall the one-hour intervention from the early days of their college years, it normalized common challenges and set in motion a cascade of events in which they were agents of change in their lives and subsequent experiences. Many established mentor relationships in college and thereafter, which improved their social circumstances and promoted positive outcomes soon after the intervention and for many years beyond (Brady et al., 2020; Walton & Wilson, 2018).

So yes, a foundation of reading, writing, and arithmetic is critical to students' future success. But connection, mattering, and belonging have the potential not only to foster wellbeing but also to influence the trajectory of our students' lives. As such, the latter may be just as important in shaping global citizens who will add value to the world (Prilleltensky, 2020). Programs that foster belonging—particularly for those in the minority or at the margins—may also be critical as adolescents practice flexing their strengths, craft and refine their personal narratives, and add value to the collective as they transition to adulthood.

## Becoming

"For me, becoming isn't about arriving somewhere or achieving a certain aim. I see it instead as forward motion, a means of evolving, a way to reach continuously toward a better self. The journey doesn't end" – Michelle Obama (2018, p. 417).

**Prospection and Narrative Identity.** Despite the depths of our diversity and the ranges in our representation, as humans, we share many things in common. Similar to animals we can process life as it occurs in the here and now. But uniquely human is our ability to reflect on the past, to predict consequences, to simulate possibilities, to imagine the future, and to look to any

of these mental simulations to inform our actions in the present moment (Baumeister et al., 2016; Gilbert & Wilson, 2007).

In explorations of motivation, generations of psychological theory and research have focused primarily on just one dimension of this aspect of our humanity: the past. However, in recent years, positive psychology pioneer, Martin Seligman and colleagues (2013) contested the underpinnings of this emphasis and its underlying assumptions when they proposed that expectation is the basis of motivation. Rather than being driven by the past, they contended, our actions are pulled by the future. Findings from their theoretical examination on the topic suggest that *prospection*—that is, our mental simulations of possible futures (Gilbert & Wilson, 2007) is at the heart of motivation. It informs the way we think and feel, as well as the way we act. Prospection, they argue, is a key driver of human behavior (Seligman et al., 2013).

The past is in the past, and there is nothing we can do to change it. In contrast, the future is not only changeable, it also offers a matrix of potentialities and possibilities (Baumeister et al., 2016). If our thoughts, emotions, motivations, and behaviors are driven solely by an inalterable past, this reality can undermine our sense of agency, and we may be less inclined to even consider the future. But if an undetermined future is something we have the power to change, and it is shaped at least in part by our choices in the present, we're not only more likely to consider it, but it can also draw us toward action, enhancing our sense of agency (Baumeister et al., 2016; Seligman et al., 2013).

Seligman and colleagues (2013) suggest that the past is not a force that elicits passive reactions, but rather, it's a source we can use to inform intentional action and future possibilities. They suggest that the future, with its many possible outcomes, can influence our thoughts, emotions, and motivation and guide us toward intelligent action that supports its manifestation (see also Baumeister et al, 2016). The scholars differentiate between *drive* and *desire*, noting that the former is positioned from a place of lack and motivation to alleviate discomfort, whereas the latter is active and positioned from a posture of attraction (Seligman et al., 2013).

Oftentimes, prospection is an adaptive process that can foster positive developmental outcomes. And conceptualizing the *ideal self*—that is, a vision for a desired future, hope, and a sense of identity—can facilitate intentional and sustainable change (Boyatzis & Akrivou, 2006). Again, writing about our life goals and best-possible self has been linked with increased well-being (King, 2001). Additionally, prospection has been shown to promote self-regulatory behavior (e.g., Cheng et al., 2012) and prosociality (Baumsteiger, 2017). It can be a practical means of guiding our decision making to bring about desired outcomes (Baumeister et al., 2016), and some scholars theorize that it may be an effective tool in cultivating purpose (Bronk & Mitchell, 2022). However, negative prospection (e.g., an inability to envision future possibilities or negative beliefs about the future) may reinforce cycles of adversity, lead to feelings of helplessness, and may be a critical cause of depression (Roepke & Seligman, 2016). If this is indeed the case, therapy and/or interventions designed to revise negative beliefs about the future may be a more promising path to positive outcomes than excavating the roots of those negative beliefs from the depth of a past we cannot change (Seligman et al., 2013).

One study exploring *posttraumatic growth* (*PTG*)—that is, the positive changes that follow life challenges (Tedeschi & Calhoun, 2004)—randomly assigned a sample of adults (N =188) who had recently endured adversity to one of three groups. The first group engaged in weekly prospective-writing exercises exploring potential possibilities following the hardships. The second group engaged in weekly factual-writing exercises. And the third group engaged in no weekly writing assignments over the course of the month. At the end of the intervention, participants in the prospective writing group showed the most dramatic increases in PTG but not in retrospective PTG (Roepke et al., 2018).

In our life stories, moving from our past through our present experiences to a future reality requires sequential action through meaningfully connected events. This is narrative structure. Prospection is often a process of narrative structure (Baumeister, 2016). As McAdams (1985) notes, we construct narratives to make meaning of our lives. As such, regarding the present moment as a chapter, page, or word in an ongoing story can add value and meaning to the moment. And from a prospection perspective, the future offers the hope, promise, and possibility of still-to-be-written chapters pulling our stories forward.

Both our pasts and our futures can inform our life stories and narrative identity in the present. Collective and societal narratives can influence our personal narratives as well. Narrative-identity revision and meaning making is a developmental (Fivush et al., 2017) and life-long task (McAdams, 1985), and the growth, transformation, and redemption characteristic of well-being stories are ongoing processes of becoming (Bauer et al., 2008; McAdams, 1985). As we encounter new experiences, overcome adversity, reframe our beliefs, leverage our strengths, lean on our loved ones, and shift our mindsets, we will continually revise our narratives (McAdams, 1985; McLean, 2008). And as our stories unfold, we will keep refining and revising them. Now, we'll turn our attention to the intentional actions we can take to improve our life stories.

## Wise and Effective Interventions

As we've explored, the transition from high school to higher education as well as the college application process and practices are marked by several potential threats to well-being and positive outcomes, particularly for African American youth. However, this transition and its

# MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

existing practices present strategic intervention opportunities as well. To recap, fixing problems or alleviating suffering is not the focus of positive psychology (Seligman, 1999). Although there are certainly times, places, and populations for whom this level of psychological emphasis and support is warranted, the emphasis of positive psychology is primarily to promote flourishing and well-being through intentional action (Seligman & Csikszentmihalyi, 2000). For some African American students, their baseline genetics and/or life circumstances may be suboptimal in the pursuit of happiness. But again, as Lyubomirsky and collaborators (2005) suggest these two factors comprise only a portion of the well-being equation. Deliberate, intentional, volitional activities can play a critical role as well. As the researchers contend, we may not be able to easily change our circumstances or our biological baselines, but we each possess the power to change our actions. As such, our activities may be the best pathway to well-being (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005).

PPIs have been a historically effective tool in boosting happiness and well-being in individuals (Seligman et al., 2005; Sin & Lyubomirsky, 2009). These effects may be optimal in conditions where an activity is well-aligned to the person engaging in it (Layous & Lyubomirsky, 2013). However, evolutions in the field have illuminated the need to grow beyond the early off-the-shelf PPIs to a new evidenced-based and innovative generation of interventions. Advances like Pawelski's (2020) elements model, detailed above, have aided in the analysis and synthesis of new interventions. And yet, even as more individuals thrive, systemic social problems persist. Inequalities threaten to diminish people's sense of agency (Coleman et al., 1966) and life pursuits. Further, many interventions—in positive psychology and beyond intending to improve people's lives and experiences alter outcomes in the short term only for study participants to adapt and eventually return to baseline (Lyubomirsky et al., 2005). Overhauling systems and grand-scale interventions are not only expensive, but in many cases, they may also be unrealistic and ineffective. However, promising work from the field of social psychology suggests that brief and simple interventions targeting specific psychological processes may be an effective, enduring, and scalable way to affect student outcomes (Walton, 2014).

Many of the issues we explored earlier in this paper including deficiency narratives, maladaptive beliefs, and belonging uncertainty involve psychology (Walton, 2014). Social psychologists contend that many such issues are rooted in predictable and universal psychological patterns (Walton & Wilson, 2018). Notably, however, we don't all experience the same objective circumstances in the same way. Rather, our experiences—often based on reasonable inferences—are subjective. From a social psychology perspective, our subjective interpretations, or the meaning we make, of ourselves and our circumstances determine how we behave and are motivated by our needs for accuracy, self-integrity, and belonging (Walton & Wilson, 2018). Similarly, the stories we tell (and believe) are also interpretations of subjective experiences. Importantly, if this is indeed the case, we can interpret them differently.

Revising, refining, or changing the way we think or the meaning we make of our lives and our experiences is at the heart of *wise interventions* (Walton, 2014; Walton & Wilson, 2018). Similar to PPIs, these research-based interventions aim to promote flourishing by precisely targeting specific psychological processes. Examples highlighted earlier in this paper include reframing academic challenges through a growth mindset intervention (Blackwell et al., 2007), normalizing the struggles of a college transition through a social belonging intervention (Walton & Cohen, 2011), or boosting students' self-integrity through a values-affirmation writing

49

intervention (Cohen et al., 2009). These brief interventions have improved well-being and achievement outcomes without overhauling anything.

According to social psychologists, Greg Walton and Timothy Wilson (2018), wise interventions operate under the assumption that most people are capable and most circumstances possess room for improvement, but they're not functioning optimally due in part to psychological barriers. Oftentimes, these interventions leverage existing programs, processes, and people complementing rather than replacing systems and resources. They are light-touch interventions that don't tell people what to do, how to think, or what to believe. Rather, they orient people in the direction of change and empower them to internalize the change themselves. They covertly challenge implicit beliefs through tactics including leading questions, presenting new information, implying new meaning, and active reflection. And lastly, importantly, they target perpetual processes, which can aid in enduring change (Walton & Wilson, 2018).

With all of the above in mind, I would like to now introduce early concepts for *OurStory*, a research-inspired narrative intervention that uses college essays as a point of entry. This program can help to address many of the issues we explored in Part I. And it was inspired and informed by the research and literature we unpacked in Part II. So now, on to Part III.

#### Part III—Application Plan | OurStory: A Wise Positive Intervention

*OurStory* is a reciprocity program for high school juniors and seniors that leverages the college admission essay and essay-writing process to help students reframe beliefs and shape positive personal narratives. It is rooted in core concepts from positive psychology, social psychology, and narrative psychology that have been shown to promote well-being and positive academic outcomes (e.g., Bandura, 1997; Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Prilleltensky, 2019; Walton & Cohen, 2011). It is based on much of the research we have explored above, including

## MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

personal and collective narratives, counternarratives, positive youth development programs, expressive writing, positive psychology and wise interventions, as well as concepts including agency and prospection. And it is inspired by work that has been shown to challenge dominant deficit narratives (Delgado, 1989; Solórzano & Yosso, 2002; Miller et al., 2020), normalize firstyear college challenges, and narrow achievement gaps (Yeager et al., 2016).

Based on key takeaways from this research, I plan to create and launch *OurStory* with a series of pilot workshops and a companion curriculum. Guided by writing prompts, personal reflection, partner feedback, and group discussion, students in the program will work with the same essay through a process of revision. They will connect and collaborate with a partner and/or cohort of other students throughout the essay-refinement process. And at the program's conclusion, students who elect to will share, and together, reflect on their final essays.

The pilot program will consist of three workshop modules—Beliefs, Belonging, and Becoming—which I've expanded on below. Preceding the program will be a fourth introductory module—Beginning—which students will complete independently before we come together. This pre-workshop module will begin as we have begun—affirming students' virtues and strengths. It will introduce them to positive psychology, affirm their collective and individual strengths, and offer tips as they select an essay prompt and write their first draft.

Although any student who wishes to participate in *OurStory* is welcome, its primary audience is African American 11th and 12th grade students. Secondarily, I plan to target high school juniors and seniors who 1) are from underrepresented racial and ethnic minority groups; 2) have been identified by teachers and/or school counselors as ones who have expressed interest in—but concerns about—attending college; and/or 3) qualify for free- or reduced-price meals.

51

Although it is targeted, the content will likely be relevant and useful to a broader audience of students as well.

As I shared in Part I, I suspect that for many of these students, writing a college admission essay may be one of the first times they attempt to clarify their values and write a cohesive personal narrative. These college-bound and/or college-curious students are crafting these narratives during a critical developmental period (Steinberg, 2005) at the outset of a critical season of life transition. Based on the research I presented above, I believe this well-timed ubiquitous narrative tool presents an opportunity not only to boost college matriculation and post-secondary outcomes in marginalized students but also to increase their flourishing and wellbeing.

It's important to note, however, that most students' main objective for joining these workshops will be to start, improve, or complete their admission essays. This primary task must not get lost in the psychological mix. The program isn't about dictating what students write or how they construct their essays. Rather, it is about creating space and community for them to write, reflect on, and revise these narratives. For them, the potential academic and psychological benefits intentionally baked into the program design may be an unexpected bonus.

#### **Curriculum Modules**

Each module of the *OurStory* curriculum will follow the same basic format. Modules will include writing prompts; reflection and discussion questions; a pillar-based psychoeducation paragraph that summarizes research from the literature review of this paper; essay-revision homework; a pillar-aligned quote; and an essay-writing tip. Below, in Tables 3–5, I've outlined the primary objectives, core concepts, and sample prompts for each module.

Beliefs. Our beliefs are both the source and the substance of our stories (Bandura, 1997;

Langellier, 1989). They shape and are shaped by our experiences. They color how we see and

experience the world (Clifton et al., 2019) and impact how we think (Beck & Dozois, 2011),

what we do, and what we think we can do (Bandura, 1997, Beck & Dozois, 2011). Put simply,

our beliefs impact our actions which impact our outcomes. Week one will unearth some of these

beliefs, invite students to rethink their beliefs, and consider alternatives.

## Table 3

Curriculum Element	Description
Objective	To help students identify the beliefs underlying their personal narratives and consider how their beliefs can impact their outcomes.
Core Concepts	agency, self-efficacy, growth mindset
Sample Reflection + Discussion	What are your strengths? Describe a time when you were at your best. What have others—your parents, your friends, your teachers, your community, your culture—told you about yourself? Are they right? What evidence supports these beliefs? What evidence refutes them? What is the story that people who don't know you are likely to miss (J. Mattis, personal communication, September 7, 2021)? Who do you believe that you are?
Essay-Revision Prompt	What does your essay say about who you are and what you believe? Based on your reading, conversations, and experiences this week, what can you say differently?

Overview | Beliefs Module

**Belonging.** A basic human motivator and need (Bauermeister & Leary, 1995), belonging has been shown to decrease achievement and health inequalities (Walton & Cohen, 2011). As students grow more comfortable with one another, they will be encouraged to consider and share their strengths, adding value to the group. As they add value, they're more likely to feel valued, and so the virtuous cycle and the dance between self and others begins (Prilleltensky, 2020).

# Table 4

<b>Overview</b>	Belonging	Module
-----------------	-----------	--------

Curriculum Element	Description
Objective	To help students identify the positive relationships in their lives and to consider how adding value to others has and can contribute to their own sense of belonging.
Core Concepts	relationships, mattering, belonging
Sample Reflection + Discussion	To whom do you matter? Who matters most to you? Who has helped you to cultivate your strengths? What challenges have you faced this year? How have you overcome them? Who has helped? How might this help you in the future? When was a time you were helpful? How have you added value to your family, friends, school, or community? What or who has kept you from adding value? Who do you believe that you are?
Essay-Revision Prompt	What does your essay say about how you matter, who matters to you, and with whom you belong? Based on your reading, conversations, and experiences this week, what can you say differently?

**Becoming.** During the final module, students will share their essays and reflect on one another's stories. Importantly, we will discuss that even once the essays are written, our stories are continually evolving (McAdams, 1985). The best of ourselves is still unwritten and can continue to draw us forward (Seligman et al., 2013). Students will explore additional contexts (e.g., music, social media, and visual arts) that they can use to share their strengths, include others, co-create future program iterations, and add value to a story bigger than their own.

# Table 5

**Overview** / **Becoming Module** 

Curriculum Element	Description
Objective	To help students regard themselves as agents in their lives and to regard both their past and future life experiences as motivation for growth and progress in the present.
Core Concepts	prospection, narrative identity
Sample Reflection + Discussion	How have you improved over the last three weeks? What have you done that is working well? What have you changed that is working better? Where would you like to be a year from now? What does the best version of yourself in 10 years look like? What steps are you taking now to get there? Which possibilities have you discovered that you didn't see before? What do you want the next students coming through this program to know? What value have you added to the group? How do you intend to take this value with you? Who do you believe that you are?
Essay-Revision Prompt	What does your essay say about who you are and who you're becoming? Based on your readings, conversations, and experiences this week? What can you say differently?

## **Program-Development Considerations**

At this early program-development stage, the optimal timing, format, and duration of each module is still to be determined. Initially, I would like to experiment with both a longweekend retreat format as well as 3–4 hour workshops over three consecutive weekends. Research suggests that the program duration may not be as important as its peak and its conclusion. Specifically, we tend to give more weight to the peak and the end of an experience in our retrospective evaluation of the overall experience (Kahneman et al., 1993). So, most importantly, I intend for this program to begin and end well.

To evaluate the program's effectiveness, before our first session, I'll invite students to complete a brief questionnaire, provide a copy of their high school transcript, and take both the VIA Inventory of Strengths for Youth (Park & Peterson, 2006; Peterson & Seligman; 2004) and

the EPOCH Measure of Adolescent Well-being (Kern et al., 2016). Additionally, I will randomly select 5–10 students to participate in pre- and post-intervention interviews. Immediately following our final session, I'll ask each participant to retake the EPOCH scale and complete a post-intervention evaluation. At the end of each academic semester through students' high-school graduation, I will request a copy of their school transcripts, noting any changes. Since this is a writing intervention, I can also recruit help to qualitatively analyze student narratives and interview responses to evaluate how the words students use to describe themselves and their experiences change over time. I plan to work with local high schools to compare college matriculation rates of students who participate in the program and those who do not—understanding the limits in demonstrating the effectiveness of a self-selected intervention versus one of random assignment. As program interest grows, I may be able to explore comparisons with waitlist control groups as well. In any case, my priority is to eventually accommodate every student who wishes to participate.

*OurStory* is rooted in a desire for greater equity in college preparation and better outcomes for students of color, especially African American adolescents. But it is not about reforming the college application process, improving schools, rewriting policy, or even about teaching new habits and behaviors. It is working within an existing system and capitalizing on changes already at work within that system to try to affect young people's subjective experience. Importantly, it leverages a personal narrative that kids are already motivated to write. *OurStory* targets specific psychological processes and meets all three needs addressed by wise interventions (i.e., accuracy, self-integrity, and belonging) and includes several of their core strategies as well, including identity labeling, leading questions, and values affirmation. The program introduces core positive psychology concepts and offers multiple pathways to wellbeing.

### **Future Directions**

*OurStory* is just in the infancy of its development, and it offers many possibilities for future growth, including mentorship initiatives, family and community-based programming and outreach, co-curricular integration, and/or a basis for empirical research. To date, narrative research has primarily focused on assessing narratives to *predict* well-being and academic achievement. Eventually, I would like to explore if and how revising a narrative can *influence* well-being and academic achievement. In the immediate, I intend to build on a firm foundation of extant literature, which along with early feedback from students, I will use to create and refine curriculum content and program deliverables. I intend to leverage these insights to inform future workshop iterations and to scale this program beyond my small community. My next step is to transition from planning to action. Even still, *OurStory* is just a beginning.

### Limitations

Admittedly, this PYD program has its limits and is insufficient to unravel the deep systemic issues faced by many of the students for whom it was created. It targets young people who are already considering higher education, but it will likely miss some students who have written college off as a viable future option. Further, this program is designed for high school juniors and seniors, but I wonder if a future iteration may be more impactful for younger adolescents. Although the extracurricular workshop format can foster engagement and motivation (Larson, 2000), I wonder if it might be more effective in schools. The format may allow for swifter implementation than a school-based program would require, but it may also discourage students with family, work, sports, or other weekend commitments from

### MAPP 800 Capstone | Tschetter

participating. Each student's context will affect how they experience and benefit from this program. And it is important to note that improving college matriculation rates may have limited effects on college completion rates. The natural world teaches us the importance of planting seeds in fertile soil, nurturing them with sunlight and water, and recognizing that threats outside of our control may compromise their well-being. In the same way, this intervention is far more likely to take root and flourish for students who have home, school, work, and/or community relationships and environments that will nurture and support their growth. And it is more likely to falter for those students who don't.

And yet, for at least some students, *OurStory* is a strategic intervention during a critical developmental juncture, which can plant seeds of change, counter destructive societal narratives, and foster more positive personal ones. I anticipate that these students' final personal narratives will reflect growth and transformation. I expect to see this program help more of them get to college. And I hope that *OurStory* will encourage them and others—students and educators alike—to reframe the college admission essay as an opportunity to improve their well-being along the way.

#### **Our Story Continues ...**

Throughout this paper, I have referred to *OurStory* as a positive youth development program and a wise positive intervention. As I have imagined a better future for more African American adolescents, I have described both positive academic outcomes and positive psychological outcomes. And at the outset of this paper, I devoted an entire section to the science of well-being, positive psychology. As you've likely noticed, the common thread in each of the above is the term "positive." My intention in using this term so frequently throughout this paper is neither a matter of prescription nor denial. To be clear, I am not suggesting that a college degree is the best or only pathway to wellbeing for all African American adolescents. Some students will elect to work or learn a trade or start a family immediately after high school, and for those students, these are respect-worthy decisions. Again, autonomy—that is, freedom to choose, is also included in several theories of well-being (e.g., Ryan & Deci, 2000; Ryff, 1989). But there is another contingency of students who have elected against college not as a matter of choice but as a matter of resignation. These are the students for whom this intervention was created. These are the students whom I hope *OurStory* will reach.

Additionally, while many African Americans are thriving, others continue to struggle and face challenges and adversity that must be acknowledged and addressed (Mattis et al., 2016). In some cases, we do have health, wealth, and achievement gaps to overcome (DeFreitas, 2020). However, this is only part of our story. Despite a history marked by dehumanization, disregard, and subsequent adversity, African Americans have made positive strides in life expectancy, financial status, and education (Mattis et al. 2016). To limit our stories to tales of deficiency and deny this progress can not only result in helplessness and defeat (M. Seligman, personal communication, December 5, 2021) in ourselves and our children, it can compromise our wellbeing and potential to add value to a greater human story.

Our story is one of resilience and strength. Our story is one of diversity and cultural wealth. Our story is one of belief in ourselves and our abilities. Our story is one of improvement and growth. Our story is one of love and belonging. Our story is one of hope and becoming. Our story is still being written.

*OurStory* is an opportunity to reclaim our story.

### References

- Adler, J. M. (2012). Living into the story: Agency and coherence in a longitudinal study of narrative identity development and mental health over the course of psychotherapy. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*(2), 367–389. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025289</u>
- Allensworth, E. M., & Clark, K. (2020). High school GPAs and ACT scores as predictors of college completion: Examining assumptions about consistency across high schools. *Educational Researcher*, 49(3), 198–211. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X20902110</u>
- Atkinson, R. C., & Geiser, S. (2009). Reflections on a century of college admissions tests. *Educational Researcher*, 38(9), 665–

676. https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X09351981

- Azéma, M., & Rivère, F. (2012). Animation in Paleolithic art: A pre-echo of cinema. *Antiquity*, 86(332), 316–324. http://dx.doi.org/10.1017/S0003598X00062785
- Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a unifying theory of behavioral change. *Psychological Review*, 84(2), 191–215. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 295X.84.2.191
- Bandura, A. (1982). Self-efficacy mechanism in human agency. *American Psychologist*, 37(2), 122–147. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.37.2.122</u>

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. Freeman.

Bandura, A. (2001). Social cognitive theory: An agentic perspective. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 52(1), 1–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.1</u>

Bandura, A. (2006). Toward a psychology of human agency. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, *1*(2), 164–180. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00011.x</u>

- Bandura, A., Barbaranelli, C., Caprara, G. V., & Pastorelli, C. (2001). Self-efficacy beliefs as shapers of children's aspirations and career trajectories. *Child Development*, 72(1), 187–206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-8624.00273</u>
- Bauer, J. J., McAdams, D. P., & Pals, J. L. (2008). Narrative identity and eudaimonic wellbeing. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 9(1), 81–104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-006-</u> 9021-6
- Baumeister, R., & Leary, M. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *117*(3), 497–529. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.117.3.497
- Baumeister, R. F., Vohs, K. D., & Oettingen, G. (2016). Pragmatic prospection: How and why people think about the future. *Review of General Psychology*, 20(1), 3–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/gpr0000060</u>
- Baumsteiger, R. (2017). Looking forward to helping: The effects of prospection on prosocial intentions and behavior. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 47(9), 505–514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12456</u>
- Bayer, S., & Hettinger, A. (2019). Storytelling: A natural tool to weave the threads of science and community together. *Bulletin of the Ecological Society of America*, 100(2), 1–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bes2.1542</u>
- Beck, A. T., & Dozois, D. J. (2011). Cognitive therapy: Current status and future directions. *Annual Review of Medicine*, 62(1), 397–409. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-med-052209-100032</u>

- Bikmen, N. (2015). History as a resource: Effects of narrative constructions of group history on intellectual performance. *Journal of Social Issues*, 71(2), 309– 323. https://doi.org/10.1111/josi.12112
- Blackwell, K. L., Trzesniewski, K. H., & Dweck, C. S. (2007). Implicit theories of intelligence predict achievement across an adolescent transition: A longitudinal study and an intervention. *Child Development*, 78(1), 246–263. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2007.00995.x</u>
- Boiler, L., Haverman, M., Westerhof, G. J., Riper, H., Smit, F., & Bohlmeijer, E. (2013).
  Positive psychology interventions: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. *BMC Public Health*, *13*(1), 119–125. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2458-13-119</u>
- Bowlby, J. (1988). A secure base: Parent-child attachment and healthy human development. Basic Books.
- Boyatzis, R.E., & Akrivou, K. (2006). The ideal self as the driver of intentional change. *Journal of Management Development, 25*(7), 624–642.

https://doi.org/10.1108/02621710610678454

- Brady, S. T., Cohen, G. L., Jarvis, S. N., & Walton, G. M. (2020). A brief social-belonging intervention in college improves adult outcomes for Black Americans. *Science Advances*, 6(18), 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/sciadv.aay3689</u>
- Bronk, K. C., & Mitchell, C. (2022). Considering purpose through the lens of prospection. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 17(2), 281–

287. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2021.2016899

- Brooks, K. (2020, October 7). ACT and SAT scores no longer required for admissions at some colleges. CBS. <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/act-and-sat-no-longer-required-college-admissions/</u>
- Brown, B. (2010). The gifts of imperfection. Hazelden.
- Bruner, J. (1990). Culture and human development: A new look. *Human Development*, *33*(6), 344–355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000276535</u>
- Bücker, S., Nuraydin, S., Simonsmeier, B. A., Schneider, M., & Luhmann, M. (2018). Subjective well-being and academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 74, 83–94. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrp.2018.02.007</u>
- Burnette, J. L., O'Boyle, E. H., VanEpps, E. M., Pollack, J. M., & Finkel, E. J. (2013). Mind-sets matter: A meta-analytic review of implicit theories and self-regulation. *Psychological Bulletin*, 139(3), 655–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0029531</u>
- Burnette, J. L., Russell, M. V., Hoyt, C. L., Orvidas, K., & Widman, L. (2018). An online growth mindset intervention in a sample of rural adolescent girls. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 88(3), 428–445. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12192</u>
- Burton, C. M., & King, L. A. (2004). The health benefits of writing about intensely positive experiences. *Journal of Research in Personality*, *38*(2), 150–163. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0092-6566(03)00058-8</u>
- Burton, C. M., & King, L. A. (2008). Effects of (very) brief writing on health: The two-minute miracle. *British Journal of Health Psychology*, 13(1), 9–14. https://doi.org/10.1348/135910707X250910
- Caprara, G., Steca, P., Gerbino, M., Paciello, M., & Vecchio, G. (2006). Looking for adolescents' well-being: Self-efficacy beliefs as determinants of positive thinking and

happiness. Epidemiologia E Psichiatria Sociale, 15(1), 30-43.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S1121189X00002013

Carr, A., Cullen, K., Keeney, C., Canning, C., Mooney, O., Chinseallaigh, E., & O'Dowd, A. (2021). Effectiveness of positive psychology interventions: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *16*(6), 749–769.

https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1818807

- Catalano, R. F., Berglund, M. L., Ryan, J. A. M., Lonczak, H. S., & Hawkins, J. D. (2004).
  Positive youth development in the United States: Research findings on evaluations of positive youth development Programs. *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, *591*(1), 98–124. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716203260102</u>
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (2022, June 2). *Risk for COVID-19 infection, hospitalization, and death by race/ethnicity. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.* <u>https://www.cdc.gov/coronavirus/2019-ncov/covid-data/investigations-</u> <u>discovery/hospitalization-death-by-race-ethnicity.html</u>
- Cheng, Y. Y., Shein, P. P., & Chiou, W.B. (2012). Escaping the impulse to immediate gratification: The prospect concept promotes a future-oriented mindset, prompting an inclination towards delayed gratification. *British Journal of Psychology*, 103(1), 129– 141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2044-8295.2011.02067.x</u>
- Chu, P. S., Saucier, D. A., & Hafner, E. (2010). Meta-analysis of the relationships between social support and well-being in children and adolescents. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 29(6), 624–645. <u>https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.2010.29.6.624</u>

- Claro, S., Paunesku, D., & Dweck, C. S. (2016). Growth mindset tempers the effects of poverty on academic achievement. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 113(31), 8664–8668. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1608207113</u>
- Clifton, J. D. W., Baker, J. D., Park, C. L., Yaden, D. B., Clifton, A. B. W., Terni, P., Miller, J. L., Zeng, G., Giorgi, S., Schwartz, H. A., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2019). Primal world beliefs. *Psychological Assessment*, 31(1), 82–99. https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000639
- Cohen, G. L., Garcia, J., Apfel, N., & Master, A. (2006). Reducing the racial achievement gap: A social-psychological intervention. *Science*, *313*(5791), 1307– 1310. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1128317
- Cohen, G. L., Garcia, J., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Apfel, N., & Brzustoski, P. (2009). Recursive processes in self-affirmation: Intervening to close the minority achievement gap. *Science*, 324(5925), 400–403. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1170769
- Cohen, S., & Herbert, T. B. (1996). Health psychology: Psychological factors and physical disease from the perspective of human psychoneuroimmunology. *Annual Reviews of Psychology*, 47, 113–142. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.47.1.113</u>
- Coleman, J. S., Campbell, E. Q., Hobson, C. J., McPartland, J., Mood, A. M., Weinfeld, F. D., & York, R. L. (1966). *Equality of educational opportunity*. Government Printing Office.
- College of Liberal and Professional Studies (n.d.). *Massive open online courses (MOOCs)*. University of Pennsylvania. Retrieved June 26, 2022, from https://www.lps.upenn.edu/courses/moocs
- Common App (n.d.) *First-year essay prompts*. The Common Application, Inc. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from <u>https://www.commonapp.org/apply/essay-prompts</u>

 Conoley, C. W., Vasquez, E., Bello, B. D. C., Oromendia, M. F., & Jeske, D. R. (2015).
 Celebrating the accomplishments of others: Mutual benefits of capitalization. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 43(5), 734–751. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000015584066</u>

- Constantine, M. G., & Sue, D. W. (2006). Factors contributing to optimal human functioning in people of color in the United States. *The Counseling Psychologist*, 34(2), 228–244. http://doi.org/10.1177/0011000005281318
- Crocker, J., Canevello, A., & Brown, A. (2017). Social motivation: Costs and benefits of selfishness and otherishness. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 68(1), 299–325. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-010416-044145
- Damon, W. (2004). What is positive youth development? *The ANNALS of the American Academy of Political and Social Science*, 591(1), 13– 24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0002716203260092</u>
- Danaher, K., & Crandall, C. S. (2008). Stereotype threat in applied settings re-examined. *Journal* of Applied Social Psychology, 38(6), 1639–1655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1559-1816.2008.00362.x</u>
- DeFreitas, S. C. (2020). *African American psychology: A positive psychology perspective*. Springer Publishing Company, LLC.
- Delgado, R. (1989). Storytelling for oppositionists and others: A plea for narrative. *Michigan Law Review*, 87(8), 2411–2441. <u>https://repository.law.umich.edu/mlr/vol87/iss8/10/</u>

Diener, E. (1984). Subjective well-being. Psychological Bulletin, 95(3), 542-

575. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.95.3.542

- Diener, E., & Chan, M. Y. (2011). Happy people live longer: Subjective well-being contributes to health and longevity. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 3(1), 1–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-0854.2010.01045.x</u>.
- Diener, E., Heintzelman, S. J., Kushlev, K., Tay, L., Wirtz, D., Lutes, L. D., & Oishi, S. (2017).
  Findings all psychologists should know from the new science on subjective wellbeing. *Canadian Psychology/Psychologie canadienne*, 58(2), 87– 104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000063</u>
- Dorn, E., Hancock, B., Sarakatsannis, J., & Viruleg, E. (2020, June 1). COVID-19 and student learning in the United States: The hurt could last a lifetime. *McKinsey & Company*. <u>https://www.mckinsey.com/industries/education/our-insights/covid-19-and-student-</u> learning-in-the-united-states-the-hurt-could-last-a-lifetime
- Duckworth, A. L. & Yeager, D. S. (2015). Measurement matters: Assessing personal qualities other than cognitive ability for educational purposes. *Educational Researcher*, 44(4), 237–251. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0013189X15584327</u>
- Dunn, A. H., Neville, M. L., & Vellanki, V. (2022). # UrbanAndMakingIt: Urban youth's visual counternarratives of being #morethanastereotype. Urban Education, 57(1), 58–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085918798065</u>
- Dweck, C. S., Chiu, C.-y., & Hong, Y.-y. (1995). Implicit theories and their role in judgments and reactions: A world from two perspectives. *Psychological Inquiry*, 6(4), 267– 285. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli0604\_1</u>
- Dweck, C. S., & Leggett, E. L. (1988). A social-cognitive approach to motivation and personality. *Psychological Review*, 95(2), 256–273. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 295X.95.2.256

- Eshun, S., & Packer, E. M. (2016). Positive psychology practice with African Americans: Mental health challenges and treatment. In E. C. Chang, C. A. Downey, J. K. Hirsch, & N. J. Lin (Eds.) *Positive psychology in racial and ethnic groups: Theory, research, and practice* (pp. 259–279). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/14799-013</u>
- Fivush, R., Booker, J. A., & Graci, M. E. (2017). Ongoing narrative meaning-making within events and across the life span. *Imagination, Cognition and Personality*, 37(2), 127– 152. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0276236617733824</u>
- Fletcher, A. (2021). *Wonderland: The 25 most powerful inventions in the history of literature.* Simon & Schuster.
- Freeman, M., Magouirk, P., & Kajikawa, T. (2021). Common app research briefs: August 2021. https://s3.us-west-

2.amazonaws.com/ca.research.publish/Research+briefs+2020/20210817\_Paper1\_Introdu ction.pdf

- Furuta, J. (2017). Rationalization and student/school personhood in U.S. college admissions: The rise of test-optional policies, 1987 to 2015. *Sociology of Education*, 90(3), 236– 254. https://doi.org/10.1177/0038040717713583
- Gable, S. L. Reiss, H. T., Impett, E., & and Asher, E. R. (2004). What do you do when things go right? The intrapersonal and interpersonal benefits of sharing positive events. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 87(2), 228–245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-</u> 3514.87.2.228
- Gardner, M., Roth, J., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2008). Adolescents' participation in organized activities and developmental success 2 and 8 years after high school: Do sponsorship,

duration, and intensity matter? *Developmental Psychology*, 44(3), 814–830.

https://doi.org/10.1037/0012-1649.44.3.814

- Geiser, S. (2017). Norm-referenced tests and race-blind admissions: The case for eliminating the SAT and ACT at the University of California. *Research & Occasional Paper Series: CSHE 15.17*. Center for Studies in Higher Education.
   <a href="https://cshe.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/2.rops.cshe.15.2017.geiser.testsra">https://cshe.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/2.rops.cshe.15.2017.geiser.testsra</a>
   <a href="https://cshe.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/2.rops.cshe.15.2017.geiser.testsra">https://cshe.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/2.rops.cshe.15.2017.geiser.testsra</a>
- Geiser, S., & Santelices, M. V. (2007). Validity of high-school grades in predicting student success beyond the freshman year: High-school records v. standardized tests as indicators of four-year college outcomes. *Research & Occasional Paper Series: CSHE 6.07.* Center for studies in higher education.

https://cshe.berkeley.edu/sites/default/files/publications/rops.geiser.\_sat\_6.13.07.pdf

- Gilbert, D. T., & Wilson, T. D. (2007). Prospection: Experiencing the future. *Science*, *317*(5843), 1351–1354. <u>https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1144161</u>
- Gillham, J., Leventhal, K. S., Rashid, T., Anjum, A., & Leventhal, S. (2019). Positive psychology programs for youth in diverse communities. In L. E. Van Zyl & S. Rothmann Sr (Eds.), *Evidence-based positive psychological interventions in multi-cultural contexts* (pp. 197–225). Springer International Publishing.
- Goyer, J. P., Garcia, J., Purdie-Vaughns, V., Binning, K. R., Cook, J. E., Reeves, S. L., Apfel, N., Taborsky-Barba, S., Sherman, D. K., & Cohen, G. L. (2017). Self-affirmation facilitates minority middle schoolers' progress along college trajectories. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 114(29), 7594–7599. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1617923114

- Grodsky, E., Warren, J. R., & Felts, E. (2008). Testing and social stratification in American education. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 34(1), 385–404. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.soc.34.040507.134711
- Habermas, T., & Bluck, S. (2000). Getting a life: The emergence of the life story in adolescence. *Psychological Bulletin*, 126(5), 748–769. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-</u> 2909.126.5.748
- Hecht, C. A., Yeager, D. S., Dweck, C. S., & Murphy, M. C. (2021). Beliefs, affordances, and adolescent development: Lessons from a decade of growth mindset interventions. In J. J. Lockman (Ed.), *Advances in child development and behavior* (Vol. 61, pp. 169–197). Elsevier Academic Press.
- Hummer, R. A., & Hernandez, E. M. (2013). The effect of educational attainment on adult mortality in the United States. *Population Bulletin*, 68(1), 1–16. <u>https://www.prb.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/07/Population-bulletin-2013-68-1-us-education-mortality.pdf</u>
- Huppert, F. A. (2009). Psychological well-being: Evidence regarding its causes and consequences. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 1(2), 137–164. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1758-0854.2009.01008.x
- Hurd, E. P., Moore, C., & Rogers, R. (1995). Quiet success: Parenting strengths among African Americans. *Families in Society*, 76(7), 434–443.

https://www.gbcnv.edu/library/PDFs/quietsucess.pdf

Hutt, S., Gardener, M., Kamentz, D., Duckworth, A. L., & D'Mello, S. K. (2018). Prospectively predicting 4-year college graduation from student applications. *LAK '18: Proceedings of the 8th international conference on learning analytics and knowledge*, 280–289. https://doi.org/10.1145/3170358.3170395

- Iatarola, P., Conger, D., & Long, M. C. (2011). Determinants of high schools' advanced course offerings. *Educational Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, 33(3), 340–359. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373711398124</u>
- Jeglic, E. L., Miranda, R., & Polanco-Roman, L. (2016). Positive psychology in the context of race and ethnicity. In E. C. Chang, C. A. Downey, J. K. Hirsch, & N. J. Lin (Eds.) *Positive psychology in racial and ethnic groups: Theory, research, and practice* (pp. 13–33). American Psychological Association. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/14799-002</u>
- Jones, B. K., & Destin, M. (2021). Effects of positive versus negative expressive writing exercises on adolescent academic achievement. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 51(6), 549–559. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jasp.12756</u>
- Jones, B. K., Destin, M., & McAdams, D. P. (2018). Telling better stories: Competence-building narrative themes increase adolescent persistence and academic achievement. *Journal of Experimental Social Psychology*, 76, 76–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jesp.2017.12.006</u>.
- Jones, C. P. (2000). Levels of racism: A theoretical framework and a gardener's tale. *American Journal of Public Health*, *90*(8), 1212–1215. http://doi.org/10.2105/AJPH.90.8.1212
- Jose, P. E., Ryan, N., & Pryor, J. (2012). Does social connectedness promote a greater sense of well-being in adolescence over time? *Journal of Research on Adolescence*, 22(2), 235– 251. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-7795.2012.00783.x</u>
- Kahneman, D., Fredrickson, B. L., Schreiber, C. A., & Redelmeier, D. A. (1993). When more pain is preferred to less: Adding a better end. *Psychological Science*, 4(6), 401–405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.1993.tb00589.x</u>

- Kern, M. L., Benson, L., Steinberg, E. A., & Steinberg, L. (2016). The EPOCH measure of adolescent well-being. *Psychological Assessment*, 28(5), 586– 597. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/pas0000201</u>
- Kern, M. L., Williams, P., Spong, C., Colla, R., Sharma, K., Downie, A., Taylor, J. A., Sharp, S., Siokou, C., & Oades, L. G. (2020). Systems informed positive psychology. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 15(6), 705 - 715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2019.1639799</u>
- Keyes, C. L., Shmotkin, D., & Ryff, C. D. (2002). Optimizing well-being: The empirical encounter of two traditions. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 82(6), 1007– 1022.
- King, L. A. (2001). The health benefits of writing about life goals. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 27(7), 798–807. <u>http://doi.org/10.1177/0146167201277003</u>
- Kinloch, V., Burkhard, T., & Penn, C. (2017). When school is not enough: Understanding the lives and literacies of Black youth. *Research in the Teaching of English*, 52(1), 34–54. <u>http://www.ncte.org/library/NCTEFiles/Resources/Journals/RTE/0521-</u> aug2017/RTE0521When.pdf
- Komarraju, M., & Nadler, D. (2013). Self-efficacy and academic achievement: Why do implicit beliefs, goals, and effort regulation matter? *Learning and Individual Differences*, 25, 67–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lindif.2013.01.005</u>
- Korpershoek, H., Canrinus, E. T., Fokkens-Bruinsma, M., & de Boer, H. (2020). The relationships between school belonging and students' motivational, social-emotional, behavioural, and academic outcomes in secondary education: A meta-analytic review. *Research Papers in Education*, *35*(6), 641–680. https://doi.org/10.1080/02671522.2019.1615116

Kross, E., & Ayduk, O. (2011). Making meaning out of negative experiences by selfdistancing. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 20(3), 187– 191. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721411408883

Langellier, K. (1989). Personal narratives: Perspectives on theory and research. *Text and Performance Quarterly: TPQ.*, 9(4), 243–276.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10462938909365938

- Larson, R. W. (2000). Toward a psychology of positive youth development. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 170–183. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.170</u>
- Littlejohn-Blake, S. M., & Darling, C. A. (1993). Understanding the strengths of African American families. *Journal of Black Studies*, 23(4), 460–471. https://doi.org/10.1177/002193479302300402
- Logel, C. R., Walton, G. M., Spencer, S. J., Peach, J., & Mark, Z. P. (2012). Unleashing latent ability: Implications of stereotype threat for college admissions. *Educational Psychologist*, 47(1), 42–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2011.611368</u>
- Lomas, T., & Ivtzan, I. (2016). Second wave positive psychology: Exploring the positivenegative dialectics of wellbeing. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, 17(4), 1753–1768. <u>http://doi.org/10.1007/s10902-015-9668-y</u>
- Lomas, T., Waters, L., Williams, P., Oades, L. G., & Kern, M. L. (2020). Third wave positive psychology: Broadening towards complexity. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 16(5), 660–674. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1805501</u>
- Lopez, S. J., Magyar-Moe, J. L., Petersen, S. E., Ryder, J. A., Krieshok, T. S., O'Byrne, K. K., Lichtenberg, J. W., & Fry, N. A. (2006). Counseling psychology's focus on positive

aspects of human functioning. The Counseling Psychologist, 34(2), 205-

227. https://doi.org/10.1177/0011000005283393

Lyubomirsky, S. (2001). Why are some people happier than others? The role of cognitive and motivational processes in well-being. *American Psychologist*, *56*(3), 239–

249. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.56.3.239

- Lyubomirsky, S., & Layous, K. (2013). How do simple positive activities increase well-being? *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 22(1), 57–62. https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721412469809
- Lyubomirsky, S., Sheldon, K. M., & Schkade, D. (2005). Pursuing happiness: The architecture of sustainable change. *Review of General Psychology*, 9(2), 111–

131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.9.2.111</u>

- Lyubomirsky, S., Sousa, L., & Dickerhoof, R. (2006). The costs and benefits of writing, talking, and thinking about life's triumphs and defeats. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 90(4), 692–708. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.90.4.692</u>
- Ma, J., Pender, M., & Welch, M. (2019). Education pays 2019: The benefits of higher education for individuals and society. College Board.

https://research.collegeboard.org/media/pdf/education-pays-2019-full-report.pdf

Maslow, A. H. (1954). Motivation and personality. Brandeis University.

Maslow, A. H. (1968). Toward a psychology of being. Van Nostrand.

Matsuda, M. J. (1991). Voices of America: Accent, antidiscrimination law, and a jurisprudence for the last reconstruction. *Yale Law Journal*, 100(5), 1329–1407. https://doi.org/10.2307/796694

- Mattis, J. S., Fontenot, D. L., & Hatcher-Kay, C. A. (2003). Religiosity, racism, and dispositional optimism among African Americans. *Personality and Individual Differences*, 34(6), 1025–1038. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0191-8869(02)00087-9</u>
- Mattis, J. S., Simpson, N. G., Powell, W., Anderson, R. E., Kimbro, L., & Mattis, J. H. (2016).
  Positive psychology in African Americans. In E. C. Chang, C. A. Downey, J. K. Hirsch,
  & N. J. Lin (Eds.) *Positive psychology in racial and ethnic groups: Theory, research, and practice* (pp. 83–107). American Psychological Association.
  https://doi.org/10.1037/14799-005
- McAdams, D. P. (1985). Power, intimacy, and the life story: Personological inquiries into identity. Guilford Press.
- McAdams, D. P. (1995). What do we know when we know a person? *Journal of Personality*, 63(3), 365–396. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-6494.1995.tb00500.x</u>
- McAdams, D. P. (1996). Narrating the self in adulthood. In J. E. Birren, G. M. Kenyon, J.-E.
  Ruth, J. J. F. Schroots, & T. Svensson (Eds.), *Aging and biography: Explorations in adult development* (pp. 131–148). Springer Publishing Company.
- McAdams, D. P. (2001). The psychology of life stories. *Review of General Psychology*, 5(2), 100–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/1089-2680.5.2.100</u>
- McAdams, D. P. (2011). Narrative identity. In S. J. Schwartz, K. Luyckx, & V. L. Vignoles (Eds.), *Handbook of identity theory and research* (pp. 99–115). Springer Science + Business Media. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-7988-9\_5</u>
- McLean, K. C. (2008). The emergence of narrative identity. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass*, 2(4), 1685–1702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1751-9004.2008.00124.x</u>

McLean, K. C., Pasupathi, M., & Pals. J. L. (2007). Selves creating stories creating selves: A process model of narrative self-development in adolescence and adulthood. *Personality and Social Psychology Review*, *11*(3), 262–278.

https://doi.org/10.1177/1088868307301034

- McMahon, S. D., Felix, E. D., & Nagarajan, T. (2011). Social support and neighborhood stressors among African American youth: Networks and relations to self-worth. *Journal* of Child and Family Studies, 20(3), 255–262. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10826-010-9386-3
- McNulty, J. K., & Fincham, F. D. (2012). Beyond positive psychology? Toward a contextual view of psychological processes and well-being. *American Psychologist*, 67(2), 101– 110. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0024572
- Miller, D. I. (2019). When do growth mindset interventions work? *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, 23(11), 910–912. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2019.08.005</u>
- Miller, R., Liu, K., & Ball, A. F. (2020). Critical counter-narrative as transformative methodology for educational equity. *Review of Research in Education*, 44(1), 269–300. <u>https://doi.org/10.3102/0091732X20908501</u>
- Montecinos, C. (1995). Culture as an ongoing dialogue: Implications for multicultural teacher education. In C. Sleeter & P. McLaren (Eds.), *Multicultural education, critical pedagogy,* and the politics of difference (pp. 269-308). State University of New York Press.
- Nadworny, E. (2020, June 20). Colleges are backing off SAT, ACT scores—but the exams will be hard to shake. NPR. <u>https://www.npr.org/2020/06/12/875367144/colleges-are-backing-off-sat-act-scores-but-the-exams-will-be-hard-to-shake</u>
- National Center for Education Statistics. (2021a). Acceptance rates; number of applications, admissions, and enrollees; and enrollees' SAT and ACT scores for degree-granting

postsecondary institutions with first-year undergraduates, by control and level of institution: 2020–21. *Digest of Education Statistics*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved July 16, 2022, from https://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d21/tables/dt21\_305.40.asp

National Center for Education Statistics. (2021b). Undergraduate Enrollment. *Condition of Education*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved January 10, 2022, from <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cha</u>.

- National Center for Education Statistics. (2022). Immediate College Enrollment Rate. *Condition of Education*. U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences. Retrieved June 24, 2022, from <u>https://nces.ed.gov/programs/coe/indicator/cpa</u>
- Neel, C. G. O., & Fuligni, A. (2013). A longitudinal study of school belonging and academic motivation across high school. *Child Development*, 84(2), 678–692.

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-8624.2012.01862.x

Niemiec, R. M. (2018). *Character strengths interventions: A field guide for practitioners.* Hogrefe Publishing.

Obama, M. (2018). Becoming. Crown.

- Orbey, E. (2022, May 24). How the pandemic remade the SAT. *The New Yorker*.
  <u>https://www.newyorker.com/news/annals-of-education/how-the-pandemic-remade-the-sat</u>
- Park, N., & Peterson, C. (2006). Moral competence and character strengths among adolescents: The development and validation of the Values in Action Inventory of Strengths for Youth. *Journal of Adolescence*, 29(6), 891–909. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.adolescence.2006.04.011

- Park, N., & Peterson, C. (2009). Character strengths: Research and practice. *Journal of College* and Character, 10(4), 1–10. <u>https://doi.org/10.2202/1940-1639.1042</u>
- Park, N., Peterson, C., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2004). Strengths of character and wellbeing. *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 23(5), 603– 619. https://doi.org/10.1521/jscp.23.5.603.50748
- Pasupathi, M., Mansour, E., & Brubaker, J. R. (2007). Developing a life story: Constructing relations between self and experience in autobiographical narratives. *Human Development*, 50(2–3), 85–110. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000100939</u>
- Paunesku, D., Walton, G. M., Romero, C., Smith, E. N., Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2015). Mind-set interventions are a scalable treatment for academic underachievement. *Psychological Science*, *26*(6), 784–793. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0956797615571017</u>
- Pawelski, J. O. (2016). Defining the 'positive' in positive psychology: Part I. A descriptive analysis. *Journal of Positive Psychology*, 11(4), 339–356. http://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2015.1137627
  - <u>\_\_\_</u>
- Pawelski, J. O. (2020). The elements model: Toward a new generation of positive psychology interventions. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 15(5), 675–679. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2020.1789710</u>
- Pedrotti, J. T., & Edwards, L. M. (2017). Cultural context in positive psychology: History, research, and opportunities for growth. In M. A. Warren & S. I. Donaldson (Eds.), *Scientific advances in positive psychology* (pp. 257–287). Praeger.

- Pennebaker, J. W., Barger, S. D., & Tiebout, J. (1989). Disclosure of traumas and health among Holocaust survivors. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, 51(5), 577– 589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00006842-198909000-00009</u>
- Pennebaker, J. W., & Beall, S. K. (1986). Confronting a traumatic event: Toward an understanding of inhibition and disease. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 95(3), 274– 281. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0021-843X.95.3.274</u>
- Pennebaker, J. W., Chung, C. K., Frazee, J., Lavergne, G. M., & Beaver, D. I. (2014). When small words foretell academic success: The case of college admissions essays. *PloS* one, 9(12), e115844. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0115844</u>

Peterson, C. (2006). A primer in positive psychology. Oxford University Press.

- Peterson, C. & Seligman, M. E. P. (2004). *Character strengths and virtues: A handbook and classification*. Oxford University Press.
- Prilleltensky, I. (2014). Meaning-making, mattering, and thriving in community psychology: From co-optation to amelioration and transformation. *Psychosocial Intervention*, 23(2), 151–154. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psi.2014.07.008</u>
- Prilleltensky, I. (2020). Mattering at the intersection of psychology, philosophy, and politics. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 65(1–2), 16–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ajcp.12368</u>

Rao, M. A., & Donaldson, S. I. (2015). Expanding opportunities for diversity in positive psychology: An examination of gender, race, and ethnicity. Canadian Psychology/Psychologie Canadienne, 56(3), 271–282. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000036 Reeves, R. V., & Halikias, D. (2017). *Race gaps in SAT scores highlight inequality and hinder upward mobility*. https://www.brookings.edu/research/race-gaps-in-sat-scores-highlight-inequality-and-hinder-upward-mobility/

Reivich, K. & Shatté, A. (2002). The Resilience Factor. Three Rivers Press.

- Resnick, M. D., Harris, L. J., & Blum, R. W. (1993). The impact of caring and connectedness on adolescent health and well-being. *Journal of Paediatrics and Child Health*, 29(1), S3–S9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1754.1993.tb02257.x</u>
- Roepke, A. M., Benson, L., Tsukayama, E. & Yaden, D. B. (2018). Prospective writing:
  Randomized controlled trial of an intervention for facilitating growth after adversity. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, *13*(6), 627–642.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2017.1365161
- Roepke, A. M., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2015). Doors opening: A mechanism for growth after adversity. *The Journal of Positive Psychology*, 10(2), 107–115. https://doi.org/10.1080/17439760.2014.913669
- Roepke, A. M., & Seligman, M. E. P. (2016). Depression and prospection. British Journal of Clinical Psychology, 55(1), 23–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/bjc.12087</u>
- Rosenbaum, J. (2012). Degrees of health disparities: Health status disparities between young adults with high school diplomas, sub-baccalaureate degrees, and baccalaureate degrees. *Health Services and Outcomes Research Methodology 12*(2–3), 156–168. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10742-012-0094-x
- Rosinger, K. O., Ford, K. S., & Choi, J. (2021). The role of selective college admissions criteria in interrupting or reproducing racial and economic inequities. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 92(1), 31–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00221546.2020.1795504</u>

- Ross, D. A., Hinton, R., Melles-Brewer, M., Engel, D., Zeck, W., Fagan, L., Herat, J., Phaladi,
  G., Imbago-Jácome, D., Anyona, P., Sanchez, A., Damji, N., Terki, F., Baltag, V., Patton,
  G., Silverman, A., Fogstad, H., Banerjee, A., & Mohan, A. (2020). Adolescent wellbeing: A definition and conceptual framework. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 67(4), 472–
  476. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.06.042
- Ryan, R. M., & Deci, E. L. (2000). Self-determination theory and the facilitation of intrinsic motivation, social development, and well-being. *The American Psychologist*, 55(1), 68– 78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0003-066x.55.1.68</u>
- Ryff, C. D. (1989). Happiness is everything, or is it? Explorations on the meaning of psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(6), 1069– 1081. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.57.6.1069</u>
- Sales, J. M., Merrill, N. A., & Fivush, R. (2013). Does making meaning make it better? Narrative meaning making and well-being in at-risk African-American adolescent females. *Memory*, 21(1), 97–110. <u>http://doi.org/10.1080/09658211.2012.706614</u>
- Schwartz, S. J., Weisskirch, R. S., Hurley, E. A., Zamboanga, B. L., Park, I., Kim, S. Y., Umaña-Taylor, A., Castillo, L. G., Brown, E., & Greene, A. D. (2010). Communalism, familism, and filial piety: Are they birds of a collectivist feather? *Cultural diversity & ethnic minority psychology*, *16*(4), 548–560. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0021370</u>
- Sedek, G., & Kofta, M. (1990). When cognitive exertion does not yield cognitive gain: Toward an informational explanation of learned helplessness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 58(4), 729–743. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.58.4.729</u>

Seligman, M. E. P. (1999). The president's address. American Psychologist, 54, 559–562.

- Seligman, M. E. P. (2011). Flourish: A visionary new understanding of happiness and wellbeing. Atria.
- Seligman, M. E. P., & Csikszentmihalyi, M. (2000). Positive psychology: An introduction. *American Psychologist*, 55(1), 5–14. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.55.1.5</u>
- Seligman, M. E. P., & Maier, S. F. (1967). Failure to escape traumatic shock. *Journal of Experimental Psychology*, 74(1), 1–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/h0024514</u>
- Seligman, M. E. P., Railton, P., Baumeister, R. F., & Sripada, C. (2013). Navigating into the future or driven by the past. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 8(2), 119–141. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691612474317</u>
- Seligman, M. E. P., Steen, T. A., Park, N., & Peterson, C. (2005). Positive psychology progress: Empirical validation of interventions. *American Psychologist*, 60(5), 410–421. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.60.5.410</u>
- Sheldon, K., Fredrickson, B., Rathunde, K., Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Haidt, J. (2000). *Positive psychology manifesto*. Retrieved June 22, 2022, from

https://ppc.sas.upenn.edu/opportunities/conference-archives

Sherman, D., Nelson, L., & Steele, C. M. (2000). Do messages about health risks threaten the self? Increasing the acceptance of threatening health messages via self-affirmation. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(9), 1046–1058. https://doi.org/10.1177/01461672002611003

Sin, N. L., & Lyubomirsky, S. (2009). Enhancing well-being and alleviating depressive symptoms with positive psychology interventions: A practice friendly meta-analysis. *Journal of Clinical Psychology*, 65(5), 467–487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/jclp.20593</u>

- Smyth, J. M. (1998). Written emotional expression: Effect sizes, outcome types, and moderating variables. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, 66(1), 174–184. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037//0022-006x.66.1.174</u>
- Solórzano, D. G., & Yosso, T. J. (2002). Critical race methodology: Counter-storytelling as an analytical framework for education research. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 8(1), 23–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/107780040200800103</u>
- Spencer, S. J., Logel, C. E. R., & Davies, P. (2016). Stereotype threat. *Annual Review of Psychology*, 67(1), 415–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-psych-073115-103235</u>
- Steele, C. M. (1997). A threat in the air: How stereotypes shape intellectual identity and performance. *American Psychologist*, 52(6), 613–629. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.6.613</u>
- Steele, C. M., & Aronson, J. (1995). Stereotype threat and the intellectual test performance of African Americans. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 797–811. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.69.5.797</u>
- Steinberg, L. (2005). Cognitive and affective development in adolescence. *Trends in Cognitive Sciences*, *9*(2), 69–74. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tics.2004.12.005
- Steinberg, L. (2014). Age of opportunity: Lessons from the new science of adolescence. Houghton Mifflin Harcourt.
- Steinmayr, R., Heyder, A., Naumburg, C., Michels, J., & Wirthwein, L. (2018). School-related and individual predictors of subjective well-being and academic achievement. *Frontiers in Psychology*, 9, Article 2631. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyg.2018.02631</u>
- Strauss, V. (2020, June 21). It looks like the beginning of the end of America's obsession with student standarized tests. *The Washington Post*.

https://www.washingtonpost.com/education/2020/06/21/it-looks-like-beginning-endamericas-obsession-with-student-standardized-tests/

Stumpf, H., & Stanley, J. C. (2002). Group data on high school grade point averages and scores on academic aptitude tests as predictors of institutional graduation rates. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 62(6), 1042–1052.

https://doi.org/10.1177/0013164402238091

- Tedeschi, R. G., & Calhoun, L. G. (2004). Posttraumatic growth: Conceptual foundations and empirical evidence. *Psychological Inquiry*, 15(1), 1–18. https://doi.org/10.1207/s15327965pli1501\_01
- Tomasulo, D. J., & Pawelski, J. O. (2012). Happily ever after: The use of stories to promote positive interventions. *Psychology*, 3(12), 1189–1195. <u>http://doi.org/10.4236/psych.2012.312A176</u>
- Travagin, G., Margola, D., & Revenson, T. A. (2015). How effective are expressive writing interventions for adolescents? A meta-analytic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 36, 42–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2015.01.003</u>
- U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics (2022, May). *Data on display: Education pays*, 2021. United States Department of Labor. Retrieved June 22, 2022, from https://www.bls.gov/careeroutlook/2022/data-on-display/education-pays.htm
- University of Washington & Washington State University (2013) Educational attainment for all: Diversity and equity in Washington State higher education.

https://wsac.wa.gov/sites/default/files/DiversityReport.FINAL.Revised.07-2013\_0.pdf

Valentine, J. C., DuBois, D. L., & Cooper, H. (2004). The relation between self-beliefs and academic achievement: A meta-analytic review. *Educational Psychologist*, 39(2), 111– 133. <u>https://doi.org/10.1207/s15326985ep3902\_3</u>

Verbatim. (2006). Science & Spirit, 17(4), 5.

https://link.gale.com/apps/doc/A171141094/AONE?u=upenn\_main&sid=summon&xid= c3f0ba4e

Walpole, M. (2003). Socioeconomic status and college: How SES affects college experiences and outcomes. *The Review of Higher Education* 27(1), 45–

73. https://doi.org/10.1353/rhe.2003.0044

- Walpole, M. (2008). Emerging from the pipeline: African-American students, socioeconomic status, and college experiences and outcomes. *Research in Higher Education*, 49(3), 237–255. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11162-007-9079-y</u>
- Walpole, M., McDonough, P. M., Bauer, C. J., Gibson, C., Kanyi, K., & Toliver, R. (2005). This test is unfair: Urban African American and Latino high school students' perceptions of standardized college admission tests. *Urban Education*, 40(3), 321–

349. https://doi.org/10.1177/0042085905274536

- Walton, G. M. (2014). The new science of wise psychological interventions. *Current Directions in Psychological Science*, 23(1), 73–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0963721414525908</u>
- Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2007). A question of belonging: Race, social fit, and achievement. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(1), 82–

96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/0022-3514.92.1.82</u>

- Walton, G. M., & Cohen, G. L. (2011). A brief social-belonging intervention improves academic and health outcomes of minority students. *Science*, 331(6023), 1447–1451. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1198364
- Walton, G. M., Cohen, G. L., Cwir, D., & Spencer, S. J. (2012). Mere belonging: The power of social connections. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *102*(3), 513– 532. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0025731
- Walton, G. M., & Spencer, S. J. (2009). Latent ability: Grades and test scores systematically underestimate the intellectual ability of negatively stereotyped students. *Psychological Science*, 20(9), 1132–1139. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1467-9280.2009.02417.x</u>
- Walton, G. M., & Wilson, T. D. (2018). Wise interventions: Psychological remedies for social and personal problems. *Psychological Review*, 125(5), 617–655. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/rev0000115</u>
- Wang, M. T., Zepeda, C. D., Qin, X., Del Toro, J., & Binning, K. R. (2021). More than growth mindset: Individual and interactive links among socioeconomically disadvantaged adolescents' ability mindsets, metacognitive skills, and math engagement. *Child Development*, 92(5), e957–e976. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.13560
- Warren, J. (2013). The rhetoric of college application essays: Removing obstacles for low income and minority students. *American Secondary Education*, 42(1), 43–56. https://www.jstor.org/stable/43694176

Waterman, A. S. (1984). The psychology of individualism. Praeger.

Waters, L. (2011). A review of school-based positive psychological interventions. Australian Educational and Developmental Psychologist, 28(2), 75–90. https://doi.org/10.1375/aedp.28.2.75

86

- Williams, C. L., Hirschi, Q., Sublett, K. V., Hulleman, C. S., & Wilson, T. D. (2020). A brief social belonging intervention improves academic outcomes for minoritized high school students. *Motivation Science*, 6(4), 423–437. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/mot0000175</u>
- Yeager, D. S., Carroll, J. M., Buontempo, J., Cimpian, A., Woody, S., Crosnoe, R., Muller, C., Murray, J., Mhatre, P., Kersting, N., Hulleman, C., Kudym, M., Murphy, M., Duckworth, A., Walton, G., & Dweck, C. S. (2022). Teacher mindsets help explain where a growthmindset intervention does and doesn't work. *Psychological Science*, *33*(1), 18–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/09567976211028984</u>
- Yeager, D. S., Dahl, R. E., & Dweck, C. S. (2018). Why interventions to influence adolescent behavior often fail but could succeed. *Perspectives on Psychological Science*, 13(1), 101– 122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/1745691617722620</u>
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2012). Mindsets that promote resilience: When students believe that personal characteristics can be developed. *Educational Psychologist*, 47(4), 302–314. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/00461520.2012.722805</u>
- Yeager, D. S., & Dweck, C. S. (2020). What can be learned from growth mindset controversies? *American Psychologist*, 75(9), 1269– 1284. https://doi.org/10.1037/amp0000794
- Yeager, D. S., Hanselman, P., Walton, G. M., Murray, J. S., Crosnoe, R., Muller, C., Tipton, E., Schneider, B., Hulleman, C. S., Hinojosa, C. P., Paunesku, D., Romero, C., Flint, K., Roberts, A., Trott, J., Iachan, R., Buontempo, J., Yang, S. M., Carvalho, C. M., Hahn, P. R., ... Dweck, C. S. (2019). A national experiment reveals where a growth mindset improves achievement. *Nature*, *573*(7774), 364–369. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41586-019-1466-y</u>

- Yeager, D. S., & Walton, G. M. (2011). Social-psychological interventions in education: They're not magic. *Review of Educational Research*, 81(2), 267–301. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654311405999
- Yeager, D. S., Walton, G. M., Brady, S. T., Akcinar, E. N., Paunesku, D., Keane, L., Kamentz, D., Ritter, G., Duckworth, A. L., Urstein, R. M., Gomez, E. M., Markus, H. R., Cohen, G. L., & Dweck, C. (2016). Teaching a lay theory before college narrows achievement gaps at scale. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *113*(24), E3341–E3348. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1524360113
- Yiotis, K. (2005). The open access initiative: A new paradigm for scholarly communications. *Information Technology and Libraries*, 24(4), 157–162. <u>https://doi.org/10.6017/ital.v24i4.3378</u>
- Yosso, T. J. (2005). Whose culture has capital? A critical race theory discussion of community cultural wealth. *Race Ethnicity and Education*, 8(1), 69–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/1361332052000341006
- Zimmerman, B. J., Bandura, A., & Martinez-Pons, M. (1992). Self-motivation for academic attainment: The role of self-efficacy beliefs and personal goal setting. *American Educational Research Journal*, 29(3), 663–676. <u>https://doi.org/10.2307/1163261</u>